
Page 1 of 2 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MONDAY, NOVEMBER 20, 2023 

7:00 PM AT CITY HALL, 220 CLAY STREET 

 

 
 
Call to Order by the Mayor 

Roll Call 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Regular meeting of November 6, 2023. 

Agenda Revisions 

Special Presentations 

Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics relevant to City 
business.) 

Staff Updates 

Special Order of Business 

Old Business 

2. Repass, over Mayor’s veto of Resolution #23,366, being a resolution rescinding Resolution #22,360 
approving and adopting the Imagine College Hill Vision Plan. (Requires five aye votes to override 
Mayor’s veto) 

3. Pass Ordinance #3045, amending Chapter 26, Zoning, by removing Section 26-196E. Special 
Parking Standards, relative to allowing adjacent on-street parking to count towards shared parking 
requirements in the Downtown Character District (CD-DT), upon its third & final consideration. 
(requires 5 aye votes) 

Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate 

discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 

4. Receive and file the City Council Standing Committee minutes of November 6, 2023 relative to the 
following items: 
a) FY2023 Audit Report. 
b) Main Street RAISE Grant Update. 
c) Royal Drive & Seerley Boulevard One-Ways. 
d) College Hill Area Zoning Districts Review. 

5. Receive and file the following resignations of members from Boards and Commissions: 
a) Amy Lang, Board of Adjustments. 

6. Receive and file communications from the Civil Service Commission relative to the following certified 
lists: 
a) Equipment Mechanic. 
b) Public Safety Officer. 
c) Wastewater Treatment Plant Operator I. 

1



Page 2 of 2 

7. Receive and file the Bi-Annual Report of College Hill Partnership relative to FY2024 Self-Supported 
Municipal Improvement District (SSMID) funds and an FY2024 Economic Development Grant. 

8. Approve an Order Accepting Acknowledgement/Settlement Agreement with Daffodils, Inc. d/b/a 
Buzz Smoke & Vapor, 2125 College Street, for a second tobacco violation. 

9. Approve the application of CIV Plus, 704 Main Street, for a cigarette/tobacco/nicotine/vapor permit. 

10. Approve the following applications for retail alcohol licenses: 
a) Urban Pie, 200 State Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - renewal.  
b) Alist Nails & Spa, 6015 University Avenue, Special Class C retail alcohol - new - change in 
ownership. 
c) Cedar Falls Family Restaurant, 2627 Center Street, Special Class C retail alcohol - new. 

Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without 
separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered 
separately.) 

11. Resolution Calendar with items considered separately. 

12. Resolution amending Resolution No. 20,502, establishing a University of Northern Iowa student 
liaison to the City Council and developing certain procedures and imposing certain requirements for 
such position. 

13. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Mutual Non-Disclosure Agreement with 
RxBenefits, Inc. relative to a prescription drug benefits plan. 

14. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a 28E Agreement for Tobacco, Alternative 
Nicotine and Vapor Product Enforcement with the Iowa Alcoholic Beverages Division. 

15. Resolution approving an amendment to the RP Zoning District Master Plan and Development 
Procedures Agreement for Autumn Ridge Development. 

16. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Extension of a Yard Waste Management 
Service Agreement with T & W Grinding relative to management of the City’s compost facility. 

Ordinances 

17. Pass an ordinance amending Chapter 9, Fire Prevention and Protection, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to installation of post indicator valves, upon its first consideration. 

Allow Bills and Claims 

18. Allow Bills and Claims for November 20, 2023. 

Council Updates and Announcements 

Council Referrals 

Adjournment 

2



CITY HALL 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, NOVEMBER 6, 2023 

REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 
MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN PRESIDING 

  
The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, 
pursuant to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member 
thereof, at 7:00 P.M. on the above date. Members present: Schultz, deBuhr, 
Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn. Absent: None. Mayor Green led the 
Pledge of Allegiance. 

 
54516 - Mayor Green and Finance & Business Operations Director Rodenbeck 

responded to a request by Beth Koch, Cedar Falls, that City Meetings be Closed 
Captioned. Mayor Green and Councilmember Kruse responded to Ms. Koch’s 
concerns on the safety of the trails and the use of e-bikes.  

 
  Dan Trelka, Black Hawk County Board of Supervisors, requested a joint venture 

between Waterloo, Cedar Falls and the Board of Supervisors for a property 
evidence and processing building. Councilmember Sires and Public Safety 
Director Berte commented. 

 
  Pastor Larry Stumme, St. Paul Lutheran Church, commented on the quality of life 

for black citizens in our community and encouraged cities to work together to find 
solutions to these problems. 

 
  Reverend Michael Blackwell, Cedar Falls, has been heartened by responses 

from the Mayor and Council but still has concerns with racial disparity. Mayor 
Green commented. 

 
  Councilmember deBuhr recognized the Scouts from Troop #500 and thanked 

them for being in attendance. 
 
54517 - Mayor noted he inadvertently skipped an item on the agenda. 
 
  It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that the minutes of the Regular 

Meeting of October 16, 2023 be approved as presented and ordered of record. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
54518 -     Community Development Director Sheetz provided an update on banners placed 

around town welcoming the Iowa State Football playoffs and announced a 
presentation naming the drive along the UNI-Dome Playoff Parkway during the 
playoffs. 

 
  Mayor Green noted that November 7, 2023 is voting day for local elections from 

7 AM to 8 PM.   
 
54519 - Mayor Green announced that in accordance with the public notice of October 21, 

2023, this was the time and place for a public hearing to consider entering into an 
Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development with McDonald 

3

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

Construction & Remodeling, LLC. It was then moved by Kruse and seconded by 
Harding that the proof of publication of notice of hearing be received and placed 
on file. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
54520 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed agreement. Upon being advised that there were no written 
communications on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Economic 
Development Coordinator Graham provided a summary of the proposed 
agreement. There being no one else present wishing to speak about the 
proposed agreement, the Mayor declared the hearing closed and passed to the 
next order of business. 

 
54521 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that Resolution #23,369, 

approving and authorizing execution of an Amended and Restated Agreement for 
Private Development and an Amended Minimum Assessment Agreement with 
McDonald Construction & Remodeling, LLC, be adopted. Following due 
consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon 
call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, 
deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion Carried. The 
Mayor then declared Resolution #23,369 duly passed and adopted. 

 
54522 - Mayor Green announced that in accordance with the public notice of October 19, 

2023, this was the time and place for a public hearing on the City’s FFY22 
Consolidated Annual Performance and Evaluation Report (CAPER) for the 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) and HOME Programs. It was then 
moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that the proof of publication of notice 
of hearing be received and placed on file. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
54523 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed report. Upon being advised that there were no written communications 
on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Planning & Community Services 
Manager Howard provided a summary of the proposed report. There being no 
one else present wishing to speak about the proposed report, the Mayor declared 
the hearing closed and passed to the next order of business. 

 
54524 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Kruse that Resolution #23,370, 

approving and authorizing submission of the City’s FFY22 Consolidated Annual 
Performance and Evaluation Report (CAPER) for the Community Development 
Block Grant (CDBG) and HOME Programs, be adopted. Following due 
consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon 
call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, 
deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion Carried. The 
Mayor then declared Resolution #23,370 duly passed and adopted. 

 
54525 - Mayor Green announced that in accordance with the public notice of October 21, 

2023, this was the time and place for a public hearing on a proposal to undertake 
a public improvement project for the Viking Road and Prairie Parkway 
Intersection Improvements Project, and to authorize acquisition of private 

4

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

property for said project. It was then moved by Ganfield and seconded by 
Harding that the proof of publication of notice of hearing be received and placed 
on file. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
54526 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed project. Upon being advised that there were no written communications 
on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Civil Engineer Claypool   
provided a summary of the proposed project. There being no one else present 
wishing to speak about the proposed project, the Mayor declared the hearing 
closed and passed to the next order of business. 

 
54527 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Kruse that Resolution #23,371, 

approving a public improvement project for the Viking Road and Prairie Parkway 
Intersection Improvements Project, and authorizing acquisition of private property 
for said project, be adopted. Following questions and comments by 
Councilmembers Sires, deBuhr and Schultz, and responses by Civil Engineer 
Claypool, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the 
following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, 
Dunn. Nay: deBuhr, Sires. Motion Carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution 
#23,371 duly passed and adopted. 

 
54528-    It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that Ordinance #3044, granting 

a partial property tax exemption to KL Iowa 01, LLC for construction of a 
warehouse and manufacturing facility at 6313 Production Drive, be passed upon 
its third and final consideration. Following due consideration by the Council, the 
Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following 
named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, 
Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Ordinance 
#3044 duly passed and adopted. 

 
54529-    It was moved by deBuhr and seconded by Ganfield that Ordinance #3045, 

amending Chapter 26, Zoning, by removing Section 26-196E. Special Parking 
Standards, relative to allowing adjacent on-street parking to count towards 
shared parking requirements in the Downtown Character District (CD-DT), be 
passed upon its second consideration. Following due consideration by the 
Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the 
following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, 
Ganfield, Sires. Nay: Dunn. Motion carried.  

 
54530 - It was moved by Harding and seconded by Dunn that the following items on the 

Consent Calendar be received, filed, and approved: 
 

 Receive and file Departmental Monthly Reports of September 2023. 

 Receive and file the FY2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report. 

 Receive and file the FY2023 Annual City Street Finance Report. 

5

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

 Receive and file the Bi-Annual Report of Community Main Street relative to FY24 
Self-Supported Municipal Improvement District (SSMID) funds and an FY24 
Economic Development Grant. 

 Approve the application of J & M Displays, Inc. (Holiday Hoopla) for a fireworks 
display permit for November 24, 2023. 

 Approve the following applications for retail alcohol licenses: 
a) Hansen's Dairy, 123 East 18th Street, Class B retail alcohol - renewal. 
b) The Brown Bottle, 1111 Center Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service 
- renewal. 
c) Tony's La Pizzeria, 407 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - 
renewal. 
d) Five Corners Liquor & Wine, 809 East 18th Street, Class E retail alcohol - 
renewal. 
e) Cedar Falls Community Theatre, 103 Main Street, Special Class C retail 
alcohol - new. 
f) Grid Lounge, 100 East 2nd Street, Special Class C retail alcohol - new. 

 Motion carried unanimously.  

54531 -  It was moved by deBuhr and seconded by Harding to receive and file the Mayor's 
veto of Resolution #23,366, being a resolution rescinding Resolution #22,360 
approving and adopting the Imagine College Hill! Vision Plan.  

. 
  Following comments by Councilmembers deBuhr and Harding, and Mayor 

Green, the motion failed 3-4, with deBuhr, Kruse, Ganfield, and Sires voting Nay. 
 
54532 -  It was moved by Dunn and seconded by Harding to receive and file 

communications from the Civil Service Commission relative to the following 
certified lists: 

    a) Information Systems Technician II. 
b) Water Reclamation Supervisor. 
 

  Following a question by Councilmember Ganfield, and response by Finance & 
Business Operations Director Rodenbeck, the motion carried unanimously. 

  
54533 - It was moved by deBuhr and seconded by Ganfield that the following resolutions 

be introduced and adopted: 
 

 Resolution #23,372, approving and adopting amendments to the City’s 
Emergency Operations Plan. 

 Resolution #23,373, approving and authorizing submission of the City's FY2023 
Annual Urban Renewal Report. 

 Resolution #23,374, authorizing certification of eligible expenses for 
reimbursement from the College Hill, Downtown, Pinnacle Prairie, South Cedar 
Falls, and Unified Tax Increment Financing Revenues. 

6

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 5 - 

 

 Resolution #23,375, approving and authorizing an inter-fund loan from the Tax 
Increment Financing (TIF) Bond Fund to the Tax Increment Financing (TIF) Fund 
relative to funding for the parking lot overlay project costs in the College Hill 
Urban Renewal Area. 

 Resolution #23,376, approving and authorizing an inter-fund loan from the 
Stormwater Fund to the Tax Increment Financing (TIF) Fund relative to funding 
for the Olive Street Box Culvert project costs in the College Hill Urban Renewal 
Area. 

 Resolution #23,377, approving and authorizing an inter-fund loan from the Tax 
Increment Financing (TIF) Bond Fund to the Tax Increment Financing (TIF) Fund 
relative to funding for the Prairie Parkway & Viking Road intersection 
improvements and Pinnacle Prairie round-a-bout intersection improvements in 
the Pinnacle Prairie Urban Renewal Area. 

 Resolution #23,378, approving and authorizing an inter-fund loan from the Tax 
Increment Financing (TIF) Bond Fund to the Tax Increment Financing (TIF) Fund 
relative to funding for the Cyber Lane and Hudson & Ridgeway Avenue 
intersection improvements in the South Cedar Falls Urban Renewal Area. 

 Resolution #23,379, approving and authorizing an inter-fund loan from the 
Economic Development Fund to the Tax Increment Financing (TIF) Fund relative 
to funding for the purchase of land and related expenses in the South Cedar 
Falls Urban Renewal Area. 

 Resolution #23,380, approving and authorizing an inter-fund loan from the Street 
Repair Fund to the Tax Increment Financing (TIF) Fund relative to funding for the 
Main Street Reconstruction Project-6th & 7th Street portions in the Downtown 
Urban Renewal Area. 

 Resolution #23,381, approving and authorizing an inter-fund loan from the Tax 
Increment Financing (TIF) Bond Fund to the Tax Increment Financing (TIF) Fund 
relative to funding for the West Viking Road, Industrial Park Expansion, and other 
administrative and legal fees in the Unified Urban Renewal Area. 

 Resolution #23,382, levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to 
remove a tree from the property located at 821 Walnut Street. 

 Resolution #23,383, approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for 
renewal of a Microsoft Enterprise License relative to operating systems on the 
City's computer network servers. 

 Resolution #23,384, approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for a 
video playback server for Cable Television. 

 Resolution #23,385, approving and accepting Bulletproof Vest Partnership (BVP) 
grant funding from the U.S. Department of Justice relative to replacement of 
police ballistic vests. 

 Resolution #23,386, approving and authorizing a Service Agreement with 

7

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 6 - 

 

TargetSolutions Learning, LLC, d/b/a Vector Solutions relative to training 
management software for Public Safety Services.  

 Resolution #23,387, approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for the 
purchase of two plow trucks for Public Works. 

 Resolution #23,388, approving and authorizing execution of Supplemental 
Agreement No. 3 to the Professional Services Agreement with AECOM Technical 
Services, Inc. for surveying services relative to the Storm Water Study. 

 Resolution #23,389, approving and authorizing execution of a Contract with Rally 
Appraisal, LLC for appraisal services relative to the Northern Cedar Falls Flood 
Buyout Program. 

 Resolution #23,390, approving a College Hill Neighborhood (CHN) Overlay 
Zoning District site plan for construction of a new garage at 423 West 26th 
Street. 

 Resolution #23,391, approving a College Hill Neighborhood (CHN) Overlay 
Zoning District site plan for construction of a new porch and siding at 2121 
Walnut Street. 

 Resolution #23,392, approving a HWY-1, Highway Commercial Zoning District 
site plan for construction of a retail center at 703 Brandilynn Boulevard. 

 Resolution #23,393, approving and authorizing execution of a Rental 
Rehabilitation Contract with Daniels Home Improvement relative to a Community 
Development Block Grant (CDBG) Rental Rehabilitation Project at 915 West 4th 
Street; and approving and accepting a Real Estate Mortgage in conjunction with 
the project. 

 Resolution #23,394, approving and adopting 2023 payment standards for the 
Housing Choice Voucher Program relative to the Section-8 Housing Program. 

 Resolution #23,395, approving and authorizing execution of a Subrecipient 
Agreement for the Use of Federal HOME Investment Partnerships Funds with 
Iowa Heartland Habitat for Humanity relative to a project located at 2925 Sands 
Avenue; and approving and authorizing execution of a HOME Program 
Homebuyer Agreement in conjunction with the project.  

 Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Sires, Ganfield, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion 
carried. The Mayor then declared Resolutions #23,372 through #23,395 duly 
passed and adopted. 

54534 - It was moved by Harding and seconded by Kruse that Resolution #23,396, 
approving and authorizing execution of a Master Services and Purchasing 
Agreement for Agency with Axon Enterprises, Inc. relative to replacement of 
police body cameras and in-car cameras, be adopted. Following comments and 
questions by Councilmembers Ganfield and deBuhr, Mayor Green, and Dan 

8

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 7 - 

 

Trelka, Waterloo, and responses by Public Safety Director Berte and Fleet 
Maintenance Supervisor Rawdon, the Mayor put the question on the motion and 
upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, 
deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion Carried. The 
Mayor then declared Resolution #23,396 duly passed and adopted. 

54535 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Ganfield that Resolution #23,397, of 
support for Community Main Street, and approving and authorizing execution of 
a Main Street Iowa Program Continuation Agreement with Community Main 
Street (CMS) and the Iowa Economic Development Authority (IEDA) for the 
purpose of continuing the Main Street Iowa Program in Cedar Falls, be adopted. 
Following questions by Councilmembers Ganfield and deBuhr, and responses by 
Community Development Director Sheetz and Finance & Business Operations 
Director Rodenbeck, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of 
the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, 
Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion Carried. The Mayor 
then declared Resolution #23,397 duly passed and adopted. 

54536 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Kruse that Resolution #23,398, 
approving and authorizing execution of an Offer to Buy Real Estate and 
Acceptance for property located at 523 West 1st Street, be adopted. Following 
comments by Community Development Director Sheetz, it was moved by 
Harding and seconded by Kruse to amend the motion to increase the purchase 
price from $95,00 to $97,000. Following questions by Councilmembers Ganfield 
and Kruse, and Mayor Green, and responses by Sheetz and City Attorney 
Rogers, the motion to amend carried unanimously. The Mayor then put the 
question on the original motion as amended and upon call of the roll, the 
following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, 
Ganfield, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion Carried. The Mayor then declared 
Resolution #23,398 duly passed and adopted. 

54537 -  It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Ganfield that the bills and claims of 
November 6, 2023 be allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City 
Treasurer be authorized to issue City checks in the proper amounts and on the 
proper funds in payment of the same. Upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, 
Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
54538 -    Mayor Green announced that polls are open on Tuesday, November 7, 2023 

from 7 AM to 8 PM for City and School Board elections. 
 
54539 -     It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding to refer to the Community 

Development Committee for staff to research and report on allowable regulation 
of business concentration in Cedar Falls as well as private restrictive covenants 
directed at businesses Following comments by Mayor Green and Rogers, the 
motion carried unanimously.  

  
    It was moved by Sires and seconded by Harding to refer to a City Council 

Meeting an amended resolution to include the UNI Student Liaison’s participation 

9

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 8 - 

 

at Committee Meetings.  Following comments by Mayor Green, Councilmembers 
Sires, Kruse and Harding, current UNI Student Liaison Noah Hackbart, and City 
Attorney Rogers, the motion carried unanimously. 

 
    It was moved by Kruse and seconded by deBuhr to refer to the November 20, 

2023 City Council Meeting discussion on overriding the veto on the College Hill 
Vision Plan. The motion carried 5-2, with Harding and Dunn voting Nay. 

    
54540 -     It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding to adjourn to Executive 

Session to discuss Legal Matters per Iowa Code Section 21.5(1)(c) to discuss 
strategy with counsel in matters that are presently in litigation or where litigation 
is imminent where its disclosure would be likely to prejudice or disadvantage the 
position of the governmental body in that litigation. Upon call of the roll, the 
following named Councilmembers voted.  Aye: Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, 
Ganfield, Sires, Dunn.  Nay: None.  Motion carried. 

 
     The City Council adjourned to Executive Session at 8:09 P.M. 
 
     Mayor Green reconvened the Council meeting at 8:18 P.M.   
       
54541 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Harding that the meeting be 

adjourned at 8:19 P.M. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
                                                           __________________________________ 
                                                           Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

10

Item 1.



   
 

   
 

 MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN  
  
 CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA   
 220 CLAY STREET 
 CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 319-273-8600 | mayor@cedarfalls.com 

www.cedarfalls.com 
 

  
FROM: Mayor Robert M. Green 

TO: City Council 
DATE: October 26, 2023 
SUBJ: Veto of City Council’s 10/16/2023 Repeal of the Imagine! College Hill Vision Plan 

REF: (a) Iowa Code §380.6 – Effective Date 
(b) City Council Meeting Procedures (CFD 1121), Rule 1.7 - Prevalence of Council 

  

1. The Cedar Falls City Council recently voted 4-to-3 to repeal the College Hill Vision Plan, 
which had been adopted on a 4-to-3 vote in May 2021. After careful consideration, and 
in accordance with reference (a), I am vetoing this repeal resolution. 

2. In nearly four years as mayor, my philosophy has been that a mayor should use their 
veto power only when they genuinely believe that a proposed decision is detrimental to 
the community’s interests, threatens the democratic process or checks and balances, 
and when the issue is of significant importance; such an approach helps maintain trust, 
collaboration, and efficient governance while ensuring the veto is reserved for critical 
matters that align with the best interests of the community.   

3. The College Hill Vision Plan repeal resolution merits my veto for the following reasons:   

a. Timing.  The council’s recent action takes place just weeks prior to a local election 
which will see the installation of a new mayor and three new council members in 
ten weeks.  I do not believe it is in the community’s best interest to put College Hill 
stakeholders through the stress of a repeal, given that the new council can simply 
re-adopt the Imagine! College Hill Vision Plan in January.  No specific actions are 
forthcoming from the vision plan, so no compelling reason exists to repeal the plan 
prior to the new mayor and councilors being seated in January. 

b. Stakeholder Perception.  Two major stakeholders, the University of Northern Iowa 
and the College Hill Partnership, are strongly in favor of retaining the plan and 
working from it for future growth; the city’s rejection of their extensive work on the 
plan, and their expressed desires for its continuance, would be detrimental to our 
vital relationships with these College Hill stakeholders.  Council actions have lasting 
repercussions for how the city is perceived.  I believe that the city’s rejection of the 

11

Item 2.



   
 

   
 

College Hill Vision Plan will be perceived as a lack of support for College Hill and for 
the many stakeholders who seek a developmental renaissance on the Hill.  

c. Efficacy.  The council’s intent can be achieved without a plan repeal.  During both 
the October 6 standing committee meeting and the October 16 regular council 
meeting, I sensed a general desire (or at least willingness) for the council majority to 
focus College Hill redevelopment efforts on character areas 1, 2, and 3 (shown on 
page 36 of the plan). This focus can easily be accommodated through a council 
resolution to the effect that a proposed College Hill Character District (and any 
zoning reforms) should only be for character areas 1, 2 and 3.   The Character 
District could easily be expanded to include more of the surrounding residential 
areas later, if desired. 

d. Council Control and the Role of Plans.  The College Hill Vision Plan is not a zoning 
document.  During the October 16 deliberations, an argument was made that any 
adopted city plan is then “rolled over” on the council, locking the council into certain 
actions.  This argument does not hold water, as evidenced by this College Hill Vision 
Plan itself: due to council consensus at the 2021 and 2022 goal setting, no action has 
been taken during the past two fiscal years for rezoning or other ordinance changes 
affecting College Hill.  The Council and public must appreciate that the council has 
final authority for the direction and spending of the city, and it is free to do so.  

4. Given that I will be returning to my previous employment at the University of Northern 
Iowa as a web developer in January, I wish to dispel any concerns of a conflict of 
interest. I have never allowed this status to impact my decisions as mayor. I note that 
no similar concerns were brought up regarding Planning and Zoning Commission 
members employed by UNI.   That said, if any council members question the propriety 
of my veto, I encourage them to vote to override the veto on these grounds.  

5. In keeping with the spirit of reference (b), I will require that four council members make 
a request directly to the City Clerk to place a veto override on the agenda. While 
reference (a) does not define an override request process, the veto inherently signifies 
the presiding officer’s desire to not place an override on the agenda. Please note that, 
per reference (a), the council has 30 days from today to pass the override with a two-
thirds (5 of 7 members) vote.  I show this date as November 25, 2023. 

6. I respectfully request that the council not override my veto, and I look forward to a lively 
discussion of the Council’s desires for College Hill development during the November 6 
committee meeting and at the Council Goal Setting Work Session next month.  

Xc:   City Administrator 
 City Clerk 

### 

12

Item 2.



 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8606 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager 

 DATE: October 16, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Public hearing on a petition from City Council to amend parking 
requirements in the Downtown Character District (TA23-004)  

 

 
On March 20, 2023, the City Council considered the Planning and Zoning Commission’s 
recommendation regarding their request to eliminate the shared parking requirements in 
the Downtown Character District (CD-DT). The Commission recommended against 
eliminating the shared parking requirements and on a split vote, the ordinance 
amendment failed to pass at Council, so the shared parking requirements remain 
unchanged. At that same meeting, the Council made a referral to petition the Planning 
and Zoning Commission to consider amending the zoning code to eliminate the 
provision that allows on-street parking that directly abuts a property to count toward the 
shared parking requirement for any new development on the property that requires 
shared parking.     
 
Background 
 
In the Downtown Character District, for a new development project that contains 
apartments or upper floor commercial uses, a certain number of shared parking spaces 
must be provided. These are in addition to the required parking spaces for the project.  
The shared parking requirement is intended to provide a small amount of publicly 
available parking to the downtown area for visitors and customers to use in locations 
where public parking is in short supply. To help alleviate the cost of making this 
contribution to the supply of publicly available parking and to prevent this requirement 
from becoming so onerous on tight development sites that it prevents projects from 
occurring, the ordinance is written to provide flexibility on how the shared parking 
requirement is met.  To that end, shared parking spaces may be located on the 
development site or on another private property within a 600-foot walking distance from 
the site (approximately 2 blocks). In addition, any on-street parking that directly abuts the 
property may be counted toward the development’s shared parking requirement. This last 
provision was intended to mirror how the parking requirements were administered in the 
Central Business District Overlay (CBD) prior to adoption of the new code. In the previous 

13

Item 3.



 
 

CBD Overlay the parking requirements for upper floor residential uses were rather 
ambiguous and were thus established through a review at P&Z and Council. In practice, 
any on-street parking spaces that directly abutted the property counted toward the visitor 
parking requirement. The thinking was that if parking was already available for visitors 
next to the site, the developer didn’t need to provide extra parking on the private property 
for visitors.      
 
The City Council has requested that the Commission consider eliminating the provision 
in the Downtown Character District Code that allows on-street parking to count toward a 
development’s shared parking requirement.  
 
Specifically, delete City Code Section 26-196E., Special Parking Standards.     
 
If eliminated, the shared parking requirement would have to be provided on the private 
development site and/or on another private property within 600 feet walking distance. The 
latter would require a binding agreement between the two properties to ensure the shared 
parking spaces were available to the public to use during the designated times as 
approved by the City.   
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
At their meeting on September 13, 2023, the Planning and Zoning Commission 
disapproved the petition to delete Section 26-196E., Special Parking Standards.   
 
Due to the disapproval by the Planning and Zoning Commission, a 2/3 majority vote of 
the Council will be required to approve the ordinance amendment.   
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MINUTES 

Introduction 

07/23/23 
The first item of business became a zoning code text amendment regarding 
on-street parking as shared parking. Acting Chair Hartley introduced the item 
and Ms. Howard provided background information. She explained that this is 
related to on-street parking being counted toward shared parking in the 
downtown area that City Council has petitioned to eliminate. She provided 
background and spoke about information that has been discussed at 
previous meetings. There were no comments or questions. 
 
Ms. Grybovych made a motion to set public hearing for August 9, 2023. Mr. 
Larson seconded the motion. The motion was approved with 6 ayes 
(Alberhasky, Crisman, Grybovych, Hartley, Larson and Moser), and 1 nay 
(Leeper). 

  
   

Re-set public 

hearing 

8/23/2023 

The next item for consideration by the Commission was a Zoning Code Text 
Amendment regarding On-Street Parking as Shared Parking. Chair Lynch 
introduced the item and Ms. Howard provided background information. She 
explained that the Commission needed to reset the public hearing because 
the Courier failed to publish the required notice according to the City’s 
requirements. 

14

Item 3.



 
 

 
Mr. Leeper made a motion to set the public hearing for September 13, 2023. 
Mr. Stalnaker seconded the motion. The motion was approved unanimously 
with 8 ayes (Alberhasky, Grybovych, Hartley, Larson, Leeper, Lynch, Moser 
and Stalnaker), and 0 nays. 

 

 

Public hearing and 

Vote 

9/13/2023 

The next item for consideration by the Commission was a Zoning Code text 
amendment for on-street parking as shared parking. Chair Lynch introduced 
the item and Ms. Howard provided background information. She explained 
that the Commission has been asked to consider eliminating the zoning code 
provision that allows on-street parking that directly abuts a property to count 
toward the shared parking requirement for any new development on the 
property. More specifically, it is requested to delete City Code Section 26-
196E, Special Parking Standards. She provided brief background again 
regarding the current code, explaining that the ordinance provides flexibility 
on how the shared parking requirement is satisfied. She noted that the 
flexibility is intended to help reduce the burden/cost of making this 
contribution to the supply of publicly available parking.  
 
Staff recommends that the Commission hold a public hearing, discuss, and 
make a recommendation to the City Council regarding their petition to delete 
the code. 
 
Mr. Leeper asked what the options were. Ms. Howard stated that they can 
either approve or deny the deletion of the section of the code.  
 
Mr. Hartley stated that the Commission discussed this a great deal during the 
process and feels that they made a decision at that time and that they are 
now being asked to change it, when they have already calculated and made 
a decision. Mr. Leeper agreed and stated that the provisions are meant to 
encourage density and in order to promote growth downtown, a different 
approach to parking is needed. Mr. Larson agreed with those sentiments. 
 
Ms. Moser made a motion to approve the item. Mr. Hartley seconded the 
motion. The motion was denied unanimously with 8 nays (Alberhasky, 
Crisman, Hartley, Larson, Leeper, Lynch, Moser and Stalnaker), and 0 ayes. 

 

15

Item 3.



Prepared by: Karen Howard, P&CS Manager, City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa (319) 273-8600 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 3045 
 

AN ORDINANCE DELETING THE ZONING CODE PROVISION THAT ALLOWS 
ON-STREET PARKING TO COUNT TOWARD SHARED PARKING 
REQUIREMENTS WITHIN THE DOWNTOWN CHARACTER DISTRICT (CD-DT) BY 
DELETING SUBSECTION E, SPECIAL PARKING STANDARDS, WITHIN SECTION 
26-196, CHARACTER DISTRICT PARKING AND LOADING, WITHIN DIVISION 2, 
SPECIFIC DISTRICTS, OF ARTICLE III, DISTRICTS AND DISTRICT 
REGULATIONS, OF CHAPTER 26, ZONING, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 
THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA  

 
WHEREAS, the Downtown Character District zoning regulations, adopted November 1, 2021, 

define and establish shared parking requirements for certain residential uses and upper floor 
commercial uses; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council has petitioned the Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission 

to consider deleting the provision in the Downtown Character District that allows on-street parking 
that directly abuts a property to count toward any shared parking requirement for that property; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission considered said petition (TA23-004), at a 
public hearing on September 13, 2023 and recommends disapproval; and  

 
WHEREAS, with disapproval by the Planning and Zoning Commission, the amendment noted 

herein shall not become effective except by the favorable vote of at least two-thirds of all the 
members of the City Council.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR 
FALLS, IOWA, THAT: 

 

Section 1: Subsection E. Special Parking Standards, of Section 26-196, Character District Parking and 

Loading, within Division 2, Specific Districts, of Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter 

26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby deleted in its entirety.  

 
INTRODUCED:     October 16, 2023   

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   October 16, 2023   

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:   November 6, 2023   

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:        

ADOPTED:           

 
 

____________________________ 
       Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk  

16

Item 3.



 
 

MEETING OF STANDING COMMITTEES 
City Hall, 220 Clay Street 

November 6, 2023 
 

The meeting of Standing Committees met at City Hall at 5:15 p.m. on November 6, 2023, with 
the following Committee persons in attendance: Councilmembers Susan deBuhr, Kelly Dunn, 
Simon Harding, Daryl Kruse, Dustin Ganfield, Gil Schultz, and Dave Sires. Staff members from 
all City Departments and members of the community attended in person.   
 
Finance and Business Operations: 
Chair Dunn called the meeting to order and introduced the only item on the Finance and 
Business Committee agenda, FY2023 Audit Report and introduced Controller/City Treasurer 
Lisa Roeding.  Ms. Roeding gave an overview of the FY2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial 
Report and stated the City is required to publish a complete set of audited financial statements 
presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  Ms. Roeding stated the 
auditors reviewed and tested various items and gave an unmodified or clean opinion; the 
unmodified opinion is the highest audit assurance that you can receive on your financial 
statements.  Ms. Roeding noted it is the City’s 33rd year receiving the Government Finance 
Officer’s Association Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting for the 
FY2022 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report.  She stated once the report is received and 
filed by Council, it will be submitted to the State Auditor’s office as required by Iowa Code, to 
GFOA, and will be posted on the City’s website.  Councilmember Ganfield asked if the City had 
received the award 33 years in total or 33 years running and when the report would be uploaded 
to the City website; Ms. Roeding responded 33 years running, and the report would be uploaded 
the following day.  Ms. Roeding stated the report would go before Council to be received and 
filed. 
 
Public Works Committee: 
Chair Schultz called the meeting to order and introduced the first item on the Public Works 
Committee agenda, Main Street RAISE Grant Update and introduced Public Works Director 
Chase Schrage.  Mr. Schrage provided a history of the Main Street project letting, schedule, 
original contract cost, and current contract prices.  Mr. Schrage introduced Aaron Moniza.  Mr. 
Moniza provided an overview of the RAISE grant including:  funding application and selection 
process; implementation of secured grant funds, which would cancel the existing construction 
contract and split Phases 3 & 4 off into a new project requiring federalization and new letting, 
bidding, and contracting which would push out the timeline; costs incurred by cancelling the 
current contract; and the potential financial benefit of utilizing the grant in the range of -$100,000 
to $300,000.  Mr. Schrage summarized the project and concluded that accepting and utilizing 
the grant incurs too many risks and costs that outweigh the benefits.  He stated at this time it is 
the plan to move forward with the current contract unless directed otherwise.  Councilmembers, 
staff, and Mr. Moniza discussed:  the potential benefit range’ if items moved into Phases 1 & 2 
were additional or taken from Phases 3 & 4; if the RAISE money could be utilized for other 
projects; and finalization of construction on this project for the year. 
 
Public Works Committee: 
Chair Schultz called the meeting to order and introduced the second item on the Public Works 
Committee Agenda, Royal Drive & Seerley Boulevard One-Ways and introduced City Engineer 
David Wicke.  Mr. Wicke stated Council gave staff a referral to conduct a one-way to two-way 
conversion study on the roads; he provided an overview of the roadways’ characteristics and 

17

Item 4.



drone video of current traffic patterns.  Mr. Wicke provided a copy of the postcard mailed to area 
residents which included an invitation to a Public Meeting to discuss interest in the proposed 
conversion from one-way to two-way streets and a QR code to take a survey.  Mr. Wicke stated 
there were 37 respondents and provided response data, which was shared at the Public 
Meeting where the public spoke for and against conversion – many strongly against, speed, and 
potential safety concerns regarding daycare pick-up and drop-off if converted.  Mr. Wicke stated 
the Engineering Division recommends E. Seerley Boulevard and Royal Drive remain one-
directional. 
 
Community Development Committee: 
Chair Harding called the meeting to order and introduced the only item on the Community 
Development Committee Agenda, College Hill Area Zoning Districts Review and introduced 
Planning & Community Services Manager Karen Howard.  Ms. Howard reviewed the referral 
from Council to review current R-4 and C-3 Zoning Districts in College Hill and how they relate 
to the College Hill Vision Plan.  Ms. Howard presented the College Hill zoning map and the 
College Hill Overlay district map.  Ms. Howard gave an overview of current permitted uses and 
dimensional standards and explained the College Hill Overlay changes to both current zoning 
districts.  Ms. Howard provided a map of the College Hill Vision Plan for Areas 1, 2, & 3 
overlaying the current zones noting Council’s request to compare current zoning to the 
proposed Vision Plan focus areas.  She gave an overview of the three districts’ relation to 
current zoning districts and the goal of the Vision Plan for each area; she presented challenges 
noted in the Vision Plan including confusing and vague zoning standards, lengthy review 
process, parking requirements that impede new or re-development, and conflicting parking 
policies between the City and UNI.  Ms. Howard noted specific challenges for the College Hill 
business district including small lots, split zoning, parking requirements, diversity of businesses, 
Dry Run Creek improvements, and improved public spaces.  Ms. Howard presented potential 
next steps that included Council referral of the project to Goal-Setting to determine the scope of 
work and address the funding, and outlined the process from draft to adoption.  
Councilmembers and City staff discussed:  rezoning split lot lines on College St.; mass re-
zoning with regard to Character Districts; City code and property owner notice practices 
regarding re-zoning; Council’s ability to override Mayor’s veto to rescind the College Hill Vision 
Plan; parking requirements, resident parking and passes, and commuter parking with regard to 
new or re-development; incentive to address residential and commercial cosmetic issues; 
concentration of vape shops and liquor stores, and how current zoning can be adjusted to 
address the issue; problems inhibiting new or re-development in current C-3 & R-4 zoning code; 
proactive Code Enforcement for residential and commercial properties on the Hill; and criteria 
for a nuisance business. 
 
Meeting adjourned at 6:55 p.m. 
 
Minutes by Katie Terhune, Administrative Assistant 

18

Item 4.



19

Item 5.



20

Item 6.



21

Item 6.



22

Item 6.



     ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: November 3, 2023 

SUBJECT:      FY24 Report by College Hill Partnership 
    
 
As you may recall, starting in FY09 we signed formal agreements with those outside 
agencies that receive funding from the City of Cedar Falls. As part of those agreements, 
these agencies were required to submit reports and documentation on how those funds 
were used. 
 
Attached is the bi-annual report for FY24 filed by College Hill Partnership. The first ½ 
payment for their SSMID funding and the first ½ payment for their economic 
development grant are therefore listed on the council bills to be processed. 
 
If you have any questions, please feel free to let me know. 
 
xc: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance and Business Operations 
 Stacy Braun-Wagner, Finance Clerk 
 Paul Kockler, Accountant 
      

23

Item 7.



College Hill Partnership
2304 College Street
Po Box 974
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613

collegehillpartnership@gmail.com
www.collegehillpartnership.org

ㅡ

2023-2024

Board of Directors
Hannah Crisman, President
ChrisMartin, Vice President
Angela Johnson, Treasurer
AdamBolander
Frank Darrah
AmandaWalters
David Grant
Ryan Kriener
Rebecca Kauten

28 October 2023

Mayor Green &Members of Cedar Falls City Council
220 Clay Street
Cedar Falls, IA 50613

RE: Economic Development and SSMID Funds

Attached please find the Biannual Report formCollege Hill Partnership

detailing our organization’s current status and progress in promoting and
revitalizing College Hill.

In this report youwill find the following information:

● Accomplishments of the last 6Months

● List of Current Board of Directors
● Financial Statements
● 2023-2024 Budget (included on Financial Statement)

We are thankful for the support and collaboration that the City of Cedar

Falls has given our organization.

With the submission of this report, we respectfully ask for the

disbursement of the SSMID funds to the College Hill Partnership. Please
notify us if there is any additional information as needed as wewould be
happy to provide it.

Regards,

Hannah Crisman

Hannah Crisman, President
On behalf of the College Hill Partnership Board of Directors

24

Item 7.



October 28, 2023 UPDATE

Economic Development Fund, SSMID &
Community Development Fund

EVALUATION FY23

Name of Organization: College Hill Partnership

Project Description:
SSMID
The College Hill Partnership received approval for our business district as a Self
Supported Municipal Improvement District. The objective of the College Hill
Partnership SSMID is to help further our organization by representing and advocating
for the interests of College Hill. We have worked to do this through economic
development, tourism, and quality of life in the College Hill area. We have also worked
to improve the administration's performance, redevelopment, and revitalization of the
district. These funds specifically aid us in our mission of revival and promotion of the
College Hill area.

What is the mission of your organization?:
College Hill Partnership (CHP) is a non-profit organization that serves as the leader in the
revitalization and promotion of the College Hill area, an urban neighborhood community. The
scope of its mission includes promoting healthy neighborhood businesses and housing
enhancement, strengthening collaboration and pride, developing public/private partnerships, and
serving as an advocate for addressing area concerns.

Grant Amount:
● SSMID $32,028+ (Approximation)

Address of Organization or person completing this application:
2304 College Street
Po Box 974
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613
Email: collegehillpartnership@gmail.com

October 28, 2023 UPDATE

25

Item 7.



1. Do you consider your organization/projects a success from April 2023 through September
2023? Why?
Over the last year and a half our organization has run solely on volunteer hours, a change from the
previous five years and a first for our organization while receiving SSMID funding. Our
volunteers have made numerous advancements to the mission and vision of the College Hill
Partnership (CHP) and we consider the last six months to be a huge success.

The CHP has established four committees to aid in the mission and vision of our organization.
These committees are Economic Development, Neighborhood Engagement, Strategic
Partnerships, and Communication and Marketing. Each committee is chaired by a board member
and allows us to continue the work done by our previous Executive Director, including projects
such as the Seerley Park Improvement Project, the Imagine College Hill Vision Plan and code
update. Additionally these committees continue to foster relationships with the City of Cedar
Falls, the University of Northern Iowa, and other community stakeholders.

The Economic Development Committee has worked to develop strategies to attract new
businesses to College Hill. The committee serves as a place for business owners to connect with
one another and allows us to provide any resources they may need. They are working on creating
a social media strategy to attract more patrons to The Hill.

In collaboration with the City of Cedar Falls, our Neighborhood Engagement Committee has
continued to focus on updating Seerley Park. We have a well established group of volunteers who
have worked closely with City staff and the landscape architects to create a more accessible and
functional park. In support of our fundraising efforts we have established a College Hill
Partnership fund at the Cedar Falls Community Foundation.

The Neighborhood Engagement Committee has also funded several community events including
Saturdays in Seerley, a monthly event that allows opportunity for conversation with neighbors,
and allows us to support Hill businesses by purchasing coffee and baked goods. The committee
has also brought jazz music back to Seerley Park. The recent Jazz in Seerley event saw over 200
attendees.

The Strategic Partnership Committee has established new relationships with the University of
Northern Iowa, which we hope will be mutually beneficial to both the University and the City of
Cedar Falls. UNI has seen many changes in staff over the last six months, and our organization
has created many opportunities for these new staff members to connect with community
members.

The CHP has continued to fund clean-up efforts in the area. We have worked with several
organizations, including the University of Northern Iowa, GreenAmericorps, and ThreeHouse to
facilitate volunteer clean-ups of the College Hill Business District and College Hill
Neighborhood.

After many hours of work were put in by the CHP to create the Imagine College Hill! Vision
Plan, our organization looks forward to the upcoming code changes to the College Hill overlay.
Using our resources, we will continue to advocate for The Hill, and we look forward to seeing

October 28, 2023 UPDATE

26

Item 7.



new entrepreneurs head to The Hill to open new businesses.

2. Does the outcome of this grant funding to your operation/project align with the Economic
Development Fund/SSMID/Façade/Community Betterment goals of complementing Cedar
Falls economic development efforts? Explain.

The College Hill Partnership’s use of the SSMID and City funding aligns with Cedar Falls’
economic development efforts. In the last six months we have seen the opening of two new
businesses, Astro ESports Lounge and Coopers Taphouse. We are also excited to welcome a new
and exciting business to The Hill, Zuri’s, which is reportedly opening in January 2022.

The College Hill Partnership continues to foster its unique connection between the business
district and the University. By funding the CHP, a multifaceted organization with a diverse
demographic, the City of Cedar Falls ensures that customers connect to businesses and
vice-versa. Through this connection, College Hill businesses can supply offerings in demand. For
example, several years ago, a study supported by the CHP helped neighbors voice their support
for a coffee shop on The Hill. Because of this study, the College Hill Business District was able to
gain Sidecar Coffee, now a staple of The Hill.

Currently, there are over five vacant storefronts. College Hill continues to face challenges caused
by the current economic crisis, changes in purchasing and dining habits, and decreased enrollment
at the University of Northern Iowa. These issues tell us that the CHP's mission to promote and
encourage revitalization is still critical to the health and vitality of The Hill.

3. Did receipt of an Economic Development Fund, Community Betterment grant, or
SSMID enable your organization/project to provide a new service to promote economic
development or the creation of quality employment opportunities in Cedar Falls? How?

Our services fall into several key areas including; encouraging cooperative business strategies,
developing awareness of the neighborhood and business district, collaborative opportunities for
marketing through events and partnerships, improving the physical appearance of College Hill,
and sponsoring cultural events that promote the district.

We continue to see that the nature of College Hill is ever-changing. It is a district that requires our
organization’s continual focus. Funding helps the College Hill Partnership provide services that
promote economic development, community growth, and stronger relationships with our
stakeholders.

Through funding we have been able to increase awareness of the business district and
neighborhood through both physical and digital media. For example, we have recently purchased
a full page ad in the Cedar Falls Visitor and Tourism Guide. This guide will help attract visitors to
Cedar Falls and especially to the University aware of services in our area. We have also
purchased a fiberglass panther as a part of the Panthers on Parade campaign.

We have been able to offer our community several cultural events free of charge, including but
not limited to a monthly event in Seerley Park with free coffee and pastries. This event allows
neighbors to connect, for the CHP to recruit new members, and for the CHP to get a gauge on

October 28, 2023 UPDATE

27

Item 7.



what community members are looking for from The Hill.

4. Please provide a summary of activities completed from April 2023 through September
2023 by your organization/project.

The College Hill Partnership provides services aimed at promoting economic development
throughout College Hill. Through funding we were able to undertake many new projects during
the year while maintaining our core mission and vision.

Encouraging cooperative business strategies
The College Hill Partnership understands the challenges the College Hill area faces. We work
together with merchants, residents, landlords, the University of Northern Iowa, and Cedar Falls
to make improvements and promote the district. We have been at the forefront in facilitating
growth through better communication and connecting relevant parties. In the past we have
helped business growth by establishing a College Hill TIF District, a College Hill Urban
Revitalization Program (CHURP), and participation in the Façade Grant Program.

The CHP works with city staff to get the community involved in several public input
opportunities, from the Pettersen Plaza Expansion to Imagine College Hill Visioning. We use our
communication channels to promote events and projects the City works on, such as the
Halloweek, or the partnership between the University and Cedar Falls Public Safety as UNI
welcomed students back to campus.

Promoting College Hill
In the last six months the CHP has been particularly focused on building lasting relationships
with our stakeholders to support the promotion of College Hill. Through frequent face-to-face
meetings with staff at UNI, we hope to establish ways to support UNI and vice versa. In turn, we
hope these interactions will lead to creating a more vibrant community for future UNI students.
Additionally, we are working on partnerships with groups like the Cedar Falls Economic
Development Corporation.

The College Hill Partnership is promoting the Hill through regular face-to-face meetings,
frequent email communication, our website (www.collegehillpartnership.org) and blog. Over
the last six months we have seen:

● Facebook page reach: 7301, a 206.5 % increase
● Facebook page likes: 74 new likes, a 155.2% increase
● Instagram page reach: 2,121, a 21.6% increase
● Instagram page likes: 89 new likes, a 111.9% increase

While social media helps to keep our members and interested groups connected and up-to-date
with what's happening on College Hill and how we can collaborate on its improvement, we can
use other media to connect with visitors. We have recently purchased a full page ad in the Cedar
Falls Visitor and Tourism Guide. This guide will help attract visitors to Cedar Falls and
especially to the University aware of services in our area

Sponsoring and Fostering Cultural Events

October 28, 2023 UPDATE

28

Item 7.



Since our organization was established in 2008, the CHP has sponsored many events. Each year
we host an annual meeting for members where they can enjoy a meal and vote on new board
members. This year we felt it was important to establish new traditions for our entire
community.

The CHP, along with UNI’s Center for Energy and Environmental Education, helped establish
the College Hill Farmers which takes place weekly on Wednesdays from June to October. This
year we have supported relocating the farmers market to W 22nd Street to encourage more
vendors and customers to participate. Along with moving the location of the market to, we also
supported market management in their decision to move from Thursdays to Wednesdays. The
market management and vendors believe this will spread the time between the Cedar Falls
Farmers Market and draw more market goers to The Hill.

In April the CHP facilitated the second College Hill Neighborhood Garage Sales. We encouraged
neighborhood participation by sending out postcards via USPS to every neighbor in our district.
We gathered addresses of participants, provided signs for their yards, created a map of sales, and
advertised the sales on social media. Despite the rainy day, the sales were a great success, and we
are planning to make the event an annual tradition.

In 2021 the CHP began hosting Saturday in Seerley, a monthly event on the second Saturday of
each month. We continued this event beginning in May through October. We provide coffee and
pastries, both from College Hill business, and gather together with our neighbors and friends.

An idea sparked from one Saturday in Seerley was our Jazz in Seerley Park concert. In late
August over 200 attendees gathered in Seerley Park for our second annual jazz concert featuring
three local jazz groups. At this event the College Hill Partnership was able to promote the
upcoming Seerley Park Improvement project. The CHP had new member sign-ups and
reconnected with old neighbors.

Activities such as these are an important way to appeal to a substantial, diverse demographic
our neighborhood serves. Public events and activities bring significant revenue to College Hill
and the City of Cedar Falls. They also promote the vitality of College Hill, drive interest in
spending time on the Hill, and aid economic development within our local district and the City
of Cedar Falls.

Improving the physical appearance of College Hill
One of CHP's charges is to create an inviting environment where people want to live, work, and
visit. The College Hill district is a gateway to Cedar Falls from UNI. It is one of the first places
to create an impression on future students and their parents. The CHP has overseen the
maintenance of flower beds in Pettersen Plaza and College and 23rd Streets, and the parking lots
on the Hill. The flower beds on the Hill were highlighted on several Master Gardener websites
highlighting public garden spaces and maintaining them successfully. Continually, the College
Hill Partnership has worked with the Black Hawk County Master Gardeners to aid our
organization in the area's beautification. Their volunteers have continued to donate countless
hours to help put the plant beds to bed for the winter season.

A collaboration between the College Hill Partnership, BHCo Master Gardeners, and Friends of

October 28, 2023 UPDATE

29

Item 7.



Pettersen Plaza has spent countless hours providing an aesthetically pleasing, event-friendly
space at the bottom of the Hill that reflects the Namesake of the Plaza, Hugh Pettersen. To date,
we have raised over $17,000 in private donations to go towards the improvements of Pettersen
Plaza. We are thrilled to see the completion of the Olive Street Box Culvert project, we are
looking forward to planning a celebratory ribbon cutting event in the sprint.

Many board members and CHP volunteers spend free time picking up trash and debris left
behind in highly used areas like the College Hill neighborhood. Another proud partnership we
have is with Green Iowa Americorps and TreeHouse Collaborative Campus Ministries. Through
this partnership we facilitate clean-ups. These days featured an opportunity for UNI Students to
help us clean up The Hill.

Our largest current project which will greatly improve both the appearance of College Hill and
create a new opportunity for neighborhood and community members alike is our Seerley Park
Improvement Project. Again, in partnership with the City, we are working to make Seerley Park
a more accessible, functional, and welcoming City.

As the City focuses on making park improvements citywide, we hope Seerley Park will serve as
inspiration for other projects. We have established a committee to help determine what facilities
are needed in the park. We are working with the landscape architect and the Cedar Falls
Community Foundation to select more accessible play equipment. We are also hoping to be the
first city park to offer free Wi-Fi so that students can enjoy the park while studying or attending
online classes.

The College Hill Partnership has committed to helping fundraise $100,000. This is a
considerable sum of money, so the CHP has established an account at the Cedar Falls
Community Foundation. This account not only allows us to have an online platform for
donations, but sets us up for financial success in the future including but not limited to
endowments and corporate donations.To date we have raised over $55,000 in grant funding

Fostering Partnership with City of Cedar Falls
The College Hill Partnership values the working relationship with the City of Cedar Falls.
This includes but is not limited to:

● Regularly communicating with City staff
○ City staff liaison at CHP board meetings
○ Monthly meetings with Mayor Green
○ City council members at CHP board meetings
○ A volunteer representative on the Parking Tech Committee
○ Attending City Council meetings

● Working to help promote activities and important issues the City is working on
○ Parking
○ Annual City Wide Clean Up
○ Olive Street Box Culvert
○ Halloweek
○ Public Safety as students return to campus
○ Seerley Park Improvement

● Participating in joint media communications
October 28, 2023 UPDATE

30

Item 7.



○ Interviews with local press
○ Social media

5. Do you have suggestions for improvement of this grant process?

We do not have any suggestions at this time.

October 28, 2023 UPDATE

31

Item 7.



Board of Directors
2023-2024

At-Large 2022-2024 Amanda Moran walteaae@gmail.com
At-Large 2023-2025 Frank Darrah wfd@cfu.net
At-Large 2023-2025 Hannah Crisman hannahcrisman10@gmail.com
At-Large 2022-2024 Rebecca Kauten rkauten@cfu.net
Business 2022-2024 VACANT
At-Large 2022-2024 Adam Bolander adam.bolander@cedarfalls.com
Landlord 2022-2024 Chris Martin chris.martin@cfu.net
Landlord 2023-2025 Ryan Kriener ryankriener@gmail.com
Neighbor 2023-2025 Angela Johnson Angelaj1932@gmail.com
Neighbor 2022-2024 David Grant david.grant@uni.edu

Liaisons
Arian Sullivan University of Northern Iowa Students
Cory Hurless Hearst Center
Heather Harbach University of Northern Iowa
Jeff Harrenstein Cedar Falls Public Safety
Karen Howard City of Cedar Falls
Kelly Dunn Cedar Falls City Council
Kim Bear Downtown Cedar Falls

October 28, 2023 UPDATE

32

Item 7.



Supporting Documents

Financial Statement & Budget
See Attached Document

Total Volunteer Hours
See Attached Document

October 28, 2023 UPDATE

33

Item 7.



FY23 Budget - 4/1/22-9/30/23

Income
Memberships/Donations $381.92
SSMID $31,740.00
Total Income $32,121.92

Expenses
Neighborhood Services Committee $3,034.27
Strategic Partnerships $1,615.16
Economic Development $1,370.57
Communication and Recruitment $9,032.24
Adminstrative $8,044.69
Total Expenses $23,096.93

Balance (Income vs. Expenses) $9,024.99

34

Item 7.



BEFORE THE CEDAR FALLS CITY COUNCIL 

 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 

IN RE:       ORDER ACCEPTING 

Daffodils, Inc.      ACKNOWLEDGMENT/ 

d/b/a Buzz Smoke & Vapor    SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT 

2125 College Street, Suite A 

Cedar Falls, IA  50613 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 ON this ______ day of _______________, 2023, in lieu of a public hearing on the 

matter, the Cedar Falls City Council approves the attached Acknowledgment/ Settlement 

Agreement between the above-captioned permittee and the City of Cedar Falls. 

 Pursuant to the Agreement, IT IS THERFORE ORDERED that  a civil penalty 

of One Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($1,500.00) or  a thirty (30) day cigarette permit 

suspension be assessed against the above-captioned permittee effective ______________, 

2023 [Future Date].  This sanction will count as a second violation of Iowa Code Section 

453A.2(1), pursuant to Iowa Code Section 453A.22(2)(b). 

 

 

 

      ____________________________________ 

      Robert M. Green, Mayor 

      City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

 

 

35

Item 8.



36

Item 8.



37

Item 9.



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  4600 SOUTH MAIN STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Green and City Councilmembers 

From:  Craig Berte, Public Safety Services Director 

  Mark Howard, Police Chief 

Date:  November 13, 2023 

Re:  Retail Alcohol License Applications 

Police Operations has received applications for retail alcohol licenses. We find no records that would 
prohibit these licenses and recommend approval. 

Name of Applicants:  

a) Urban Pie, 200 State Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - renewal.  

b) Alist Nails & Spa, 6015 University Avenue, Special Class C retail alcohol - new - change in 
ownership. 

c) Cedar Falls Family Restaurant, 2627 Center Street, Special Class C retail alcohol - new. 

 

38

Item 10.



1 

 

   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PHONE 319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
Legal Services Division 

 TO: Mayor Green, City Council 

 FROM: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 

 DATE: November 10, 2023 

    SUBJECT: Amendment to UNI Student Liaison Resolution 
 
 
On November 6, 2023, Council referred to staff the drafting of an amendment to Resolution 
20,502 dated April 17, 2017, to allow greater participation by the student liaison during standing 
committee meetings.  I have determined that the best way to accomplish this is to eliminate the 
distinction between regular council meetings and standing committee meetings as pertaining to 
participation by the student liaison.  In addition, the student liaison’s ability to participate in all 
meetings was expanded to also include, in addition to comments during the public comment 
period, when called upon by Mayor or Council.  Interestingly, Resolution No. 20,502 allowed this 
additional participation during committee meetings but not during regular council meetings.   
 
Under the amendment as drafted, UNI student liaison participation will be the same for both 
standing committee and regular council meetings and will allow participation during public 
comment and also when called upon by the Mayor or Council. 
 
Please feel free to contact me with any questions.  

39

Item 12.



RESOLUTION NO. ____________ 

 

AMENDMENT TO RESOLUTION APPOINTING STUDENT LIAISON TO THE CITY COUNCIL 

       WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, adopted Resolution No. 20,502 on April 

17, 2017, establishing a University of Northern Iowa student liaison to the City Council and developing  

certain procedures and imposing certain requirements for such position; and 

       WHEREAS, Section 5 of such Resolution addresses the involvement of the student liaison in 

Committees of the City Council; and 

       WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that there should be no difference between Committee 

meetings and regular meetings of the City Council pertaining to the involvement of the UNI student 

liaison; and 

       WHEREAS, the City Council wishes to allow the UNI student liaison to comment not only during 

public comment, but also if called upon by the Mayor or City Council; and 

       WHEREAS, the City Council has approved amending City Council Resolution No. 20,502 to 

effectuate these changes. 

       NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, 

IOWA: 

       1.  Section 4 of City Council Resolution No. 20,502, entitled City Council Meetings is hereby stricken 

in its entirety and the following is substituted in lieu thereof: 

       Section 4:  City Council Meetings:  Except in the event of illness or family emergency, or other good 

cause, the Student Liaison shall be required to attend all regular and standing committee meetings of 

the City Council that occur during the fall and spring semesters at UNI.  The Student Liaison is 

encouraged to attend regular and standing committee meetings of the City Council that occur during 

semester breaks and during the summer.  The Student Liaison may be seated on the dais during City 

Council Meetings, including standing committee meetings.  Violation of the attendance requirements 

set forth herein shall result in immediate removal of the student from the Student Liaison position.  

The Student Liaison shall be allowed to speak during City Council meetings only during the public 

comment period and when called upon by the Mayor or City Council.  

      2.  Section 5 of City Council Resolution No. 20,502, entitled Committee of the Whole Meetings is 

hereby stricken in its entirety. 

      3.  In all other respects, City Council Resolution No. 20, 502 is hereby reaffirmed. 

       ADOPTED this _____ day of ________________________, 2023. 

 

                                                                                                 ATTEST:                                                                                                        

_________________________________                              ________________________________           

Robert M. Green, Mayor                                                          Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

40

Item 12.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council Members 

 FROM: Paul Kockler, Accountant 

 DATE: November 9, 2023 

 SUBJECT:   Mutual Non-Disclosure Agreement with RxBenefits, Inc. 
   
 
Attached for your approval is a mutual non-disclosure agreement with RxBenefits, Inc. 
This agreement will allow the City and RxBenefits, Inc. to enter into discussions to 
determine if the City would recommend a contract in which RxBenefits, Inc. would 
provide administrative services for the City’s prescription drug benefits plan. A mutual 
non-disclosure agreement is necessary as these discussions may require the exchange 
of proprietary and confidential information in order to determine the viability of a future 
contract with RxBenefits, Inc. Should it be determined that a future administrative 
services contract with RxBenefits, Inc. is recommended, that contract will be brought to 
City Council for approval at that time. City staff recommends your approval of the 
mutual non-disclosure agreement. If you have questions regarding the attached, please 
contact Jennifer Rodenbeck at 268-5108 or me at 268-5101. 
 
Thanks, 
 
Attachment 
 

41

Item 13.



MUTUAL NON-DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT 

This Mutual Non- Agreement September 1, 2023 Effective Date
RxB City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, on behalf of itself and its 

Client Party Parties
entering into discussions that will likely result in an exchange and review of proprietary, confidential and/or trade secret 

Potential 
Transaction
and administrative services for and on behalf of Client, all as mutually agreed upon by the Parties. As a condition of 

 
 

Confidential Information
Receiving Party

Furnishing Party
the contents of all financial analyses disclosed between the Parties; (b) pricing information and terms, projections and 
forecasts, modeling, specific programs and any related recommendations; (c) any other business intelligence of a Party; 
(d) any other material or information (including any information of Client) that is marked or expressly identified as being 

information which: (i) is or becomes generally available to the public through no act or failure to act of the Receiving 
Party(ies); (ii) was lawfully in the possession of the Receiving Party(ies) prior to any disclosure by the Furnishing Party; 
(iii) was obtained by the Receiving Party(ies) on a non-confidential basis from a third party who had the right to disclose 
such information; or (iv) is ordered or otherwise required to be disclosed by the Receiving Party(ies) by a court of law 
or governmental body; provided, however, that the Furnishing Party is notified promptly of such order or requirement 
and given a reasonable opportunity to intervene or seek to obtain a protective order or other available relief or remedy 
to prevent or limit such required disclosure. 

2.  Each Receiving Party agrees (a) to use Confidential Information of the Furnishing Party only for the purpose of 
evaluating the Potential Transaction and for no other purpose; (b) except for disclosures to Representatives, as defined 
and set forth below, not to share Confidential Information of the Furnishing Party with any third party without the 

requested to do so by the Furnishing Party.  Receiving Party may disclose Confidential Information to an employee, 
corporate member, director, officer, Affiliate (as defined herein), subcontractor or agent of Receiving Party that has a 
demonstrable need to know such Confidential Information for the purposes of carrying out or evaluating the Potential 

Confidential Information and agree to comply with the terms of this Agreement or are subject to a separate 
confidentiality agreement containing provisions no less stringent than the provisions in this Agreement. For purposes 

y; or (iii) 
is under common control with a Party, including any subsidiary or successor. Receiving Party will be fully responsible for 
any breach of this Agreement by any of its Representatives. The Parties also agree to keep confidential the contents of 
this Agreement and the fact that they are in discussions regarding a Potential Transaction. Confidential Information shall 
remain the property of the Furnishing Party. 

3.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the Parties hereto understand and acknowledge that 

federal or state- est or 
demand by any person or entity seeking release of Confidential Information and/or prior to any release or disclosure of 
Confidential Information to any person or entity that Client or its Representatives deem necessary or required under 
the Act or otherwise, Client shall immediately notify the Discloser in writing of such request, demand or obligation (a 

Information subject to the Disclosure Request within three (3) business days of receiving written notice from Client of 
such Disclosure Request (initiated by any person other than Client or its Representatives), Client shall not disclose such 
information and the Discloser shall defend and indemnify Client against any action brought to compel compliance with 
the Act, and against any out-of-pocket expense, including, but not limited to, court costs, all other costs of litigation, 

 

obligations under the preceding sentence, the Discloser, at its own expense and at any time, may seek or initiate action 
to quash, limit, modify, narrow the scope of, and/or otherwise intervene, obtain a protective order and/or defend 

Client agrees to 

42

Item 13.



disclose Confidential Information pursuant to a Disclosure Request, Client shall disclose only the minimum required 
pursuant to and in order to comply with the court order or other legal compulsion.

4.  Nothing in this Agreement should be read or interpreted to alter, replace or supersede any other confidentiality or 
non-disclosure agreement between or among RxB, a Consultant and/or Client, including without limitation, any Business 
Associate Agreement or subcontract confidentiality agreement related to the handling of PHI and to comply with the 
privacy and security rules and regulations related thereto. The Receiving Party acknowledges that the Confidential 

upon for any purpose except as set forth in writing by the Furnishing Party. Neither Party shall be under any obligation 
of any kind whatsoever to enter into any further agreement with the other Party with respect to the Potential 
Transaction or otherwise by reason of this Agreement. The Parties may modify this Agreement only in writing signed by 
each P  

RxBenefits, Inc. City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
    
By:  [sig|req|signer1] By: [sig|req|signer0] 
Title:  Vice President  Compliance & Legal Affairs Title:  [text|req|signer0] 

 

43

Item 13.



44

Item 14.



45

Item 14.



46

Item 14.



47

Item 14.



48

Item 14.



49

Item 14.



50

Item 14.



51

Item 14.



52

Item 14.



 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8606 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Jaydevsinh Atodaria (JD), AICP, City Planner 1 

  Matthew Tolan, Civil Engineer II 

 DATE: November 20, 2023 

 SUBJECT: The Autumn Ridge Master Plan Amendment (MP23-002) 

 

 
BACKGROUND 
This case was reviewed at the Planning and Zoning Commission meetings on June 14th, June 
28th, and July 26, 2023. Below is the summary from all the meetings: 
 
June 14th P&Z Meeting: 
Request: Developer was requesting amendment to RP Master Plan to include Autumn Ridge 9th 
and 11th Addition. The proposal was to include 44 detached single-family units, 46 bi-attached 
units and a little over one acre of public park space. 
 
Discussion summary at P&Z: The Planning and Zoning Commission and public brought up 
similar concerns including: 

 Lack of maintenance of existing drainage way (south of proposed subdivision)  
 Increase in density (from originally approved 58 single-family units in the area)  
 On-street parking issues with the proposed number of driveways and curb cuts. 
 Potential for stormwater issues with an increase in density. 
 Lack of usable park space 
 Inappropriate park space location 

 
The Planning and Zoning Commission discussed the proposal and requested additional 
information from staff regarding the following points: 

 Requested Maria Parez, Stormwater Specialist to attend the next meeting to summarize 
current conditions of stormwater management facility in Autumn Ridge and explain on-
site erosion control measures. 

 Requested information from the Cedar Falls Housing Needs Assessment 

 The commission asked staff to bring information on who is liable for any downstream 
water damage. 

 Continue the discussion on June 28th P&Z meeting as per staff’s recommendations. 
 
See attached Planning and Zoning meeting minutes at the end of this memo for more reference. 
 

53

Item 15.



 
 

June 28th P&Z Meeting: 
The same request was continued at the June 28th Planning and Zoning meeting. 
Discussion at P&Z: Staff provided updates to the requested additional information. 

 Maria Parez, Stormwater Specialists provided requested updates and mentioned that the 
erosion control measures will be required prior to construction/grading activity for any 
new development.  

 Staff provided updates from the Cedar Falls Housing Needs Assessment (HNA) 
highlighting the need for a variety of housing types and price levels to meet the needs of 
the community. 

 Staff recommended that the existing homeowners who are part of the stormwater 
association consult with an attorney for advice on the matter of liability for any 
downstream water damage.  

 
Staff made three recommendations for modifications to the proposed Master Plan.  The 
following is a summary of those recommendations:   

1. Provide a clear picture of how the existing drainageway is currently functioning and how it 
is going to be maintained over time. Also recommended that the developer consider 
increasing the capacity of the basin to alleviate potential flooding concerns of the property 
owners along the drainageway. 

2. Increase the park space to approximately 2 acres and relocate the park space to a 
centralized location for better safety, accessibility, and usability of park space. 

3. Increase the width of single-family lots along Aronia Drive to have a usable yard space 
and recommend eliminating 4-6 lots to achieve the goal. 

Staff recommended deferring the discussion to the July 26th meeting to allow the developer time 
to address the concerns as recommended in the staff report. More detail regarding these 
recommendations can be found in the staff report dated June 28,2023, which has been attached 
with the packet. 
 
See attached Planning and Zoning meeting minutes at the end of this memo for more reference. 
 
July 26th P&Z Meeting: 
 
At the July 26th Planning and Zoning Commission meeting, the developer requested deferral to 
September 13th to allow time to make changes to the master plan to address concerns 
expressed by the neighbors, the Commission, and staff.   
 
See attached Planning and Zoning meeting minutes at the end of this memo for more reference. 
 
Following the last discussion at the Planning and Zoning Commission meeting and upon the 
commission’s recommendations at the June 28th meeting, the developer brought a revised 
master plan for review and consideration.  
 
For ease of review, staff has presented the latest changes in this separate memo. However, you 
can access the whole record of this case, including agenda packets with previous detailed staff 
reports, minutes, correspondence, and other supplemental materials for the Planning and 
Zoning meetings on June 14th, June 28th, and July 26th, 2023 
at https://www.cedarfalls.com/852/Public-Meeting-Agendas-With-Video. The most recent full 
staff report (dated June 28th, 2023) on this case is included in this packet for reference. All 
written correspondence received for this case is included in this packet for review.  

54

Item 15.

https://www.cedarfalls.com/852/Public-Meeting-Agendas-With-Video


 
 

STAFF ANALYSIS 
The revised RP Master Plan for Autumn Ridge 9th and 11th Additions proposed by the developer 
is described below, with areas of change from the original plan highlighted and staff 
recommendations noted.  
 
Master Plan layout for Autumn Ridge 9th and 11th Additions: 
The last remaining area of development for Autumn Ridge is located just south of W.1st Street 
and north of the east-west drainage way that separates the subject area from the developed 
portion of Autumn Ridge. This area will be accessed from both W.1st Street and Union Road. 
Wynnewood Drive would be extended westward from Union Road and streets would be stubbed 
to the western boundary of the development to provide for future development. The recently 
revised master plan for the 9th and 11th Additions now includes 86 dwelling units, reduced from 
90 units; 42 lots for single-unit bi-attached dwellings, 44 single-family lots, and public park space 
located on land to the north that is proposed to be added to this development. The area will be 
developed in two phases: Phase 1 will be Autumn Ridge 9th Addition, which will include 30 lots 
(18 single-family dwellings,12 single-family bi-attached dwellings, and a little over two acres of 
public park space); and Phase 2 will be Autumn Ridge 11th Addition, which will include 56 lots 
(26 single family dwellings, and 30 single-family bi-attached dwellings). See the below image for 
reference (also attached). 

 
Residential Density, Lot Sizes and Housing Types: 
The proposal includes an increase in density for this area of the development from the 2013 
preliminary plat, as the previous plat included a proposal for 58 single-family units. The current 
proposal includes 44 single-family units and 42 single-unit bi-attached dwellings.  

  
In the Comprehensive Plan, a major portion of this area is designated as Low Density 
Residential and a small area is designated as Medium Density Residential. As per the 
Comprehensive Plan, Low Density Residential is defined as development of up to 4 units per 

55

Item 15.



 
 

acre, and development of 4-12 units per acre is considered Medium Density Residential. The 
proposed development (9th and 11th Additions) is 3.8 units per acre and thus is considered low 
density. Staff notes that both types of units proposed in this development are considered single 
family, which is defined as one dwelling unit per lot. There are detached single family units and 
single family bi-attached units included in the revised master plan.    

  
As noted previously, the 2012 Comprehensive Plan and the recently completed Housing Needs 
Study call for a variety of housing types to serve the needs of the residents of the community. 
Following is a relevant paragraph from the 2012 Comprehensive Plan:  
 

 
In response to the concerns about density and lot size, the developer has reduced the number 
of units to 86.  The lots on the northern portion of Aronia Drive are now wider, which will provide 
some additional yard space. In addition, some bi-attached lots have also been increased in 
width, resulting in a decrease of 4 bi-attached units. There has been concern expressed about 
the size of the bi-attached lots and the perception that there will be little yard space.  However, 
as shown in the table below, the lot sizes for the bi-attached dwellings are similar to the 
detached dwellings and in many cases the bi-attached lots are deeper and thus provide more 
rear yard space. The following table is a comparison of the proposed lot sizes to the 
dimensional requirements for other low-density residential zones in the city. Note that bi-
attached units are allowed in all residential zones, including the low density R-1 and R-2 Zones.  
 

 R-1 Zone R-2 Zone Proposed Sizes 

 Lot 
Width  

Lot Area  Lot 
Width  

Lot Area  Lot 
Width  

Lot Area  

Single-family, 
detached 

75 feet 9,000 sq.ft. 60 feet 7,200 sq.ft. 60-90 
feet 

6,596 – 
20,385 sq.ft. 

Single-family,  
bi-attached 

40 feet 5,000 sq.ft. 35 feet  4,000 sq.ft. 52 - 85 
feet 

7,168 – 
13,919 sq.ft. 

 
 
Community Open Space: 
As per the original development agreement at the time of rezoning, a reserved open space for 
the community was shown to be developed to enhance the livability of the entire neighborhood. 
City staff believes that having a usable park space in the Autumn Ridge is important to the 

56

Item 15.



 
 

livability of the area and aligns with both the minimum subdivision standards and with the 
principles of the R-P, Planned Residence District.  
 
The original Master Plan (2001) and development agreement for the Autumn Ridge 
Development had an area designated as a “3-5 acre” park space and stormwater detention 
area. The existing stormwater detention area is around 3 acres in size, so 2 acres of park space 
would align with the amount of open space in the original proposal.  
 
In response to concerns expressed about the size and sloping topography of the previously 
proposed park space in the southeast corner of the development, the developer now plans to 
move the park space to the north, which is designated in green and labeled as “Park Space” on 
the Master Plan. The proposed park space is about 2.1 acres in area and will have street and 
sidewalk access (Braeburn Drive) from the 9th Addition and pedestrian access from a sidewalk 
connection to the public sidewalk (to be added with the 9th Addition) on Union Road. The park 
space is proposed to be included in the first phase of development. The newly proposed space 
is relatively level, which will provide for a larger and more usable park area than what was 
originally proposed. The sidewalk connections will provide easy access to the park space for all 
residents of Autumn Ridge, both north and south of the drainage way.  
 
Staff notes that this land for the park will need to be rezoned and subdivided from the property 
to the north, but this process can occur concurrently with the platting for the 9th and 11th 
Additions. The intent is to dedicate this area to the City for public park space. The Parks and 
Recreation Commission discussed the proposal at their regular scheduled meeting on 
September 14, 2023. The Park and Recreation Commission appreciated developer’s efforts to 
accommodate a sizable park space and noted that the proposed park location will allow 
possibility of future street extension. The commission also noted that the proposed park location 
will provide great pedestrian connectivity both from within the proposed neighborhood as well as 
with pedestrian access to proposed Park space off Union Road for residents south of proposed 
development. Overall, the Parks and Recreation Commission was supportive of the proposed 
public park space in this area.  
 
Existing Stormwater Basin (South of proposed subdivision): 
The developer’s engineer has provided an updated stormwater analysis based on a recently 
completed topographic survey. The updated stormwater analysis for the existing basin and the 
proposed improvements with 9th and 11th Additions affirms that ponding is limited to the existing 
basin and associated drainage tract. The topographic survey and stormwater analysis will be 
further developed with preliminary platting of the proposed 9th and 11th Additions and will be 
reviewed by the City Engineer to ensure that it meets all City Code requirements. City Staff is 
continuing to work with the Autumn Ridge Stormwater Drainage Association with the ongoing 
maintenance of the drainage tract and will ensure the basin is performing at its originally 
intended design.  
 
Staff notes that with the preliminary plat for 9th and 11th Additions, a separate tract should be 
established to provide access to the stormwater facility, so the drainageway can be efficiently 
maintained without traversing through private yards, similar to the designated accessway 
provided from the south in Autumn Ridge 5th Addition. 
 
Staff recommends that the developer work with the neighboring property owners and the 
Autumn Ridge Stormwater Drainage Association to come up with a future maintenance plan for 

57

Item 15.



 
 

the stormwater basin, so that it continues to function properly over time.  
 
RP Master Plan & associated developmental procedures agreement: 
The RP Master Plan Amendment requires the need for update to the developmental procedures 
agreement that outlines any specific conditions pertaining to the development, any timing and 
phasing of the project and other details as necessary. For this case, staff recommends including 
the following conditions in the developmental procedure’s agreement: 

 The development permits 44 detached single-family units, 42 single-family bi-attached 
units and 2.10 acres of Park Space. 

 All lots will maintain a minimum side-yard setback of 5 feet, front-yard setback of 20 feet 
and rear-yard setback of 30 feet. 

 Park Space shall be subdivided from the existing parcel and rezoned from A-1 to R-P. 
The Park Space shall be included in the preliminary plat and the final plat of the first 
phase of the subdivision of the Property. 

 All lots less than or equal to 60 feet in width are limited to a two-car garage. 

 Driveway width for all lots, regardless of the number of garage stalls, shall not exceed 18 
feet at the street-side lot line and 24 feet at the curb. 

 The Park Space shall be established in Phase 1 of the project, and it shall be graded and 
seeded according to City requirements prior to final acceptance by the City. 

 One appropriately sized and located Outlot, as determined by the City shall be 
established on the plat for Phase 1 of the subdivision of the property to provide access to 
Tract A of Autumn Ridge 5th Addition (existing stormwater basin) 

 Prior to any final plat for the property, the developer will restore the stormwater 
management facility within Tract A of Autumn Ridge 5th Addition to its original design 
capacity and function. 

 
See attached signed developmental procedures agreement signed by the developer for more 
reference. The agreement has been attached with the packet for review. 
 
Notification of Surrounding Property Owners: 
City Staff sent a courtesy notice to the surrounding property owners on 11th November 2023.  
 
RECOMMENDATION:  

Planning and Zoning Commission recommends denial of the submitted RP Master Plan 

Amendment for Autumn Ridge (MP23-002) at their regular meeting on 13th September 2023 

with a vote of 6 nays and 2 abstentions.   

 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Discussion 
& Vote   
P&Z 
9/13/2023 
 
 

Chair Lynch introduced the item and Mr. Atodaria provided background information. He  
gave a brief recap of what has been discussed at previous meetings regarding the 
proposal, including the specifics about the park space, stormwater management and 
increasing width of single-family units, the things that were recommended by both staff 
and Planning and Zoning Commission members. Mr. Atodaria also explained the 
updated master plan proposal, provided comparison of type of units proposed with other 
low density residential zone, discussed the new park location and highlighted 
easements and setbacks proposed for the units.   
 
Mr. Tolan spoke about the stormwater management for the development and Mr. 
Atodaria stated that staff recommends approval of the Master Plan Amendment subject 

58

Item 15.



 
 

to compliance with conditions noted in the staff report and any comments or direction 
specified by the Planning and Zoning Commission.  
 
Mr. Leeper asked how many units were planned originally. Mr. Atodaria stated that there  
were originally 58 units, and the current has 86 units.  
 
Adam Daters, CGA Engineers, 5106 Nordic Drive, spoke about the functioning of the  
stormwater detention and provided renderings to demonstrate where and how it works.  
He explained different watershed analysis scenarios that have been considered and the  
results of each.  
 
Dennis Happel, BNKD, noted that he has had a great deal of review and confirmation 
regarding detention information and their numbers have come out as correct. He 
mentioned the maintenance concerns and stated that it has been out of sight, out of 
mind, but that no one has contacted them with issues. He stated that they have come to 
a decision with the City that issues will be addressed during grading of the site for 
construction and thereafter there will be an established and regular mowing plan for the 
stormwater facility. With regard to capacity of the facility, he said that they far exceed 
what is required for the area.  
 
Ms. Moser asked about the status of the area that Maria Perez, Stormwater Specialist 
found when she came out to visit the site. Mr. Happel stated that any mowing debris will 
be collected at the time. Anything that was previously done is intertwined with new 
growth will be addressed during the maintenance process and reshaping of the 
detention facility.  
 
John Englin, 4327 Wynnewood Drive, spoke about the letter that was received regarding 
this meeting and noted that he emailed the Commission members his concerns. He 
discussed the previously presented 90 dwelling units and concerns by the Commission 
with the density. At this time the units have only been decreased by four units and he 
feels that the concerns about density have been disregarded by the City and BNKD. He 
discussed concerns regarding this proposal.  
 
Lyle Simmons, 207 Corduroy Drive, echoed Mr. Englin’s sentiments.  
 
Genevieve VanDorn, 4124 Thresher Court, Unit 304, thanked staff for their hard work. 
She noted her concerns with the number of units being built. She explained that she had 
been originally told that there would be far less and that this increase would make for 
greater traffic issues. She also commented on the pricing for these units and how they 
are not what would be considered to be affordable. She also brought forward concerns 
about the location of the playground and its maintenance.  
 
Cindy Luchtenberg, 4322 West 1st Street, spoke to concerns with density and 
congestion and how it will affect access for emergency vehicles. She also noted 
concerns with how close the houses would be, particularly in case of fire, and the 
potential for it to spread to the next house. 
 
Ann Spurr, 4211 Berryhill Drive, took issue with a statement made by the developer 
regarding stormwater maintenance and how it’s been out of sight, out of mind. She 
stated that the HOA has sent dues to him each year, which should be a reminder. She 
also noted that the calculations from Mr. Dater causes her to question why there is water 
in their back yards when they are being told it will be in the detention basins. If it is 
already encroaching now, what will happen with more housing? She also questioned the 
proposal of bi-attached homes, noting that a change of a site plan was recently 

59

Item 15.



 
 

approved in another part of town to remove bi-attached dwellings because they are not 
selling.  
 
Mr. Happel spoke to the comment regarding the association dues, explaining that the 
whole detention is owned by the Autumn Ridge Stormwater Association. The dues are 
deposited in an account and are available at any time.  
 
Mr. Daters stated that they can only deal with the data that is in front of them and the 
survey information and analysis indicates that the stormwater facility has adequate 
capacity for all areas.  He said more specific information would be needed from 
individual property owners about any encroachment into their yards so they could 
investigate.   
 
Jim Hancock, 821 Lakeshore Drive, stated concerns with a lack of adjustment for the 
additional density added with regard to the detention area. He asked about additional 
sizing has been placed in the spillway to add for the 48% density being added to the 
project. He feels that there hasn’t been adequate attention given to what is actually 
happening versus what is being calculated. He also asked about the lack of additional 
rip rap that he has seen go into other projects but has not been factored in for this one. 
 
Mr. Tolan explained that rip rap throughout an entire stream channel is not an effective 
use or measure. They use rip rap in energy dissipation and areas where additional 
armoring is needed, but typically for best stream corridor practices for aquatic life, etc., a 
grass system with plantings with strong root systems that hold the banks in is best.  
 
Mr. Daters explained that they did analyze the increased runoff from a higher density 
and he was trying to show that the capacity from the model they performed appears to 
be sufficient. If there are discrepancies in what people are seeing versus what the model 
shows, they are more than happy to work with staff and any other third party engineers 
that would have comments. He also noted that this isn’t the final stormwater analysis 
that would be done. When the final plat is submitted a more detailed final report is 
submitted and reviewed by staff. 
 
Tim Caswell, 4119 Shocker Road, stated concerns with and questioned who has the 
liability for the stormwater runoff issues.  
 
Jeff Ries, 4227 Paddington, agreed with the statements made by other neighbors. He 
stated that he met with Rhonda Happel when first moving to the neighborhood and was 
promised something very different than what is currently being proposed. He noted 
issues with stormwater as well. 
 
Ms. Crisman asked for more clarification regarding the park. Mr. Atodaria explained that 
the proposed park space is 2.1 acres and will be a City park. The Park Commission will 
be discussing this proposal request tomorrow at their regular scheduled meeting. Ms. 
Howard added that if parkland is proposed by developer in a subdivision, and is to be 
dedicated as a city park, the land needs to be prepared to City standards before it is 
accepted by the City. Once it is City parkland, further improvements such as playground 
and other park amenities can be proposed and approved by City Council as part of the 
capital improvements plan.  
 
Mr. Leeper noted that he struggles with the project as he feels that the developer has 
done an adequate job with the numbers and requirements, but noted concerns with the 
expectations that the neighbors were given compared to what is now being proposed. 

60

Item 15.



 
 

Ms. Moser agreed with that struggle. Mr. Hartley also noted concerns with the extreme 
change in density.  
 
Ms. Lynch stated that while she loves the public process and truly appreciates everyone 
showing up to speak their thoughts and concerns, but she also feels that the numbers 
still fit into the parameters of low density. With the need for housing the community she 
is struggling with how she feels for the neighbors versus the facts presented.  

 
Ms. Crisman stated similar concerns, noting that as a Commission they don’t do a lot of 
actual planning. They mostly vote. While this project does meet the requirements, that 
doesn’t take into account complaints raised by the citizens. She knows there is an issue 
with housing, but doesn’t feel the solution is more $400,000 homes. She would like to 
see a revision that takes into consideration the comments made to make an impact on 
the community.  

 
Mr. Leeper made a motion to approve the item. Ms. Crisman seconded the motion. The 
motion was denied with 6 nays (Crisman, Hartley, Leeper, Lynch, Moser and Stalnaker), 
and 2 abstentions (Alberhasky and Larson). 
 

 

Discussion  
P&Z 
7/26/2023 
 
 

Acting Chair Hartley introduced the item and Mr. Atodaria provided background 
information. He explained that the items have been discussed at the previous three 
meetings so he gave a brief update, noting that it has been recommended to defer the 
discussion to the September 13, 2023 meeting. Ms. Crisman asked if there is a deadline 
of how long this item can continue to be deferred. Ms. Howard stated that that is up to 
the Commission to discuss and decide. 
 
Cindy Luchtenberg, 4322 W. 1st Street, read an email sent to the Commission and staff. 
She thanked them for their work and was encouraged that Maria Perez came to inspect 
the area to see any issues that may be taking place. She stated that she feels that the 
developer should go back to the original plan that was promised and that the majority of 
the lots are too small, causing extreme density. She also asked that Mr. Happel put a 
stipulation into the deed that the proposed duplexes can be owner occupied only. She 
stated further concern that there would be more duplexes created than initially 
proposed. 
 
Ms. Moser made a motion to defer the discussion to the September 13, 2023 meeting. 
Mr. Leeper seconded the motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 5 ayes 
(Crisman, Grybovych, Hartley, Leeper and Moser), and 0 nays.  
 

 

Discussion  
P&Z 
6/28/2023 
 
 

Chair Lynch introduce the item and Mr. Atodaria provided background information. He  
explained that the item was discussed at the last Planning and Zoning meeting and 
provided a brief overview. He explained that the subdivision has 105 acres and is 
located south of West 1st Street and west of Union Road. He displayed the 2001 RP 
Master Plan and provided history on the amendments since that time and then displayed 
a rendering of the current Master Plan. He explained the two phases that are proposed 
in the 9th and 11th Additions that propose to increase density, create a well-connected 
street pattern and have a variety of housing types to meet the housing needs of the 
community. He discussed setback requirements and minimum lot sizes for different 
housing types, easements and concerns with different aspects of the proposal. He also 
spoke about sidewalk connections, community space and shared usable open space. 
Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II was available to discuss the traffic impact and Maria 

61

Item 15.



 
 

Perez, Stormwater Specialist spoke about stormwater pollution prevention and the 
effects of urbanization on water quality. She explained the requirements and 
expectations with stormwater maintenance. Mr. Atodaria explained the staff 
recommendations to address public concerns regarding maintenance on the existing 
stormwater basin, increase in park space and increase lot sizes in certain areas to 
create more usable yard space for those lots. He noted outstanding issues that included 
a revision to the existing developmental procedures agreement that will be required to 
make it consistent with the revision to the RP Master Plan and deed of dedication need 
to be finalized once direction and decision is made by the Planning and Zoning 
Commission. At this point, the master plan amendment is for discussion and public 
comment. Staff recommends continuing the discussion to the July 26 meeting to allow 
the developer time to address staff recommendations and any direction from the 
Planning and Zoning Commission. 
 
Mr. Leeper commented that there are a lot of requirements that the city has for all 
developments [stormwater] and those will be met before the project can proceed.  
 
Dennis Happel, BNKD Development and Adam Daters, CGA Engineers, addressed 
items as brought forward by staff and the public. With regard to the existing basin 
waterway, he explained that at the time Autumn Ridge 3rd Addition was done, the City 
was responsible for all detention basins and maintenance. By the time they started 
Autumn Ridge 4th Addition, the City changed their policy to make it the responsibility of 
the homeowners associations. That is why the pond was removed. Mr. Daters also 
stated that at the request of staff, the topo survey of the detention basin was updated 
and found that they are within the appropriate range. Mr. Happel discussed access to 
the detention and provided examples of where that access would be. He also spoke 
regarding greenspace and options for a park, as well as lot sizes and proposed housing. 
He feels that the plan is in line with the code and should not be a problem.  
 
Brad Pierschbacher, 4228 W. 1st Street, commented on the letters that were sent out by 
BNKD and stated that he did try to reach out about it and wasn’t able to touch base. He 
doesn’t believe the current plan would complement the neighborhood and feels that lot 
sizes would be too small. 
 
John Englin, 4327 Wynnewood, noted concerns with regard to the proposal. He 
explained that although there is not a large group in attendance, many could not make it 
due to schedules. He provided a list of neighbors who are in opposition of the project 
and stated the reasons for their disapproval, which included the change in the plans 
from 2013 that neighbors were made to believe would be how development would occur 
here.  
 
Jim Hancock, 821 Lakeshore Drive, asked about the sizing and retention control gate, 
potential use of rip rap in the design, and the responsibility of the maintenance of the 
water areas.  
 
Cyndi Luchtenburg, 4322 W. 1st Street, read letters from herself and other neighbors 
expressing their concerns with the development and issues with changes being made.  
 
Dan Bumblauskas, 4433 Wynnewood Drive, came forward to read a letter stating 
concerns from a neighbor who couldn’t make it to the meeting (Lyle Simmons).  
 
Deb Hudspeth, 315 Corduroy Drive, agreed with all previous comments regarding the 
change in plans with regard to the lots. She believes that it should remain the same, as 
it was promised to the homeowners when they moved in. 

62

Item 15.



 
 

 
Brian Happel, 4306 Berry Hill Road, stated that he has heard from neighbors who had 
no issues with the proposal. He feels that the lack of people at the meeting is not 
because they can’t attend, but because they don’t have an issue with the changes. He 
responded to different concerns that he has heard at meetings and from residents. 
 
David Davis, 4407 Berry Hill Road, stated that he is Mr. Happel’s neighbor and that Mr. 
Happel does not speak for him. He is opposed to the changes. 
 
Ann Spurr, 4211 Berry Hill Road, echoed Mr. Davis’s statement.  
 
Cyndi Luchtenberg came forward to speak again and read a letter from Tim Caswell. He 
noted concerns with the narrow lots and streets that have several cars blocking 
mailboxes, keeping mail from being delivered. It was also noted that there are rentals 
already. His letter stated that the street is already cracked after only five years. He 
believes that BNKD is doing the absolute minimum and should be held accountable. 
 
Ms. Crisman thanked the community members for coming to the meeting to express 
concerns, as well as Ms. Perez attending to help with questions. She noted that she has 
concerns with the current master plan and would like to recommend to the other 
commissioners to really look at what it means to have a master plan and uphold it. She 
feels that the Commission should take the community members concerns into 
consideration regarding changes that are proposed that conflict with what they were 
promised when moving to that neighborhood.  
 
Chair Lynch asked Mr. Tolan and Ms. Perez to speak to questions that were brought 
forward during the meeting. Mr. Tolan explained that the 100-acres to the west was 
covered in the drainage analysis. He also gave a reminder that when a stormwater 
analysis report is put together, it is designed on an impervious measure, not on a case-
by-case basis. He also explained that rip rap is used in areas where there is a high risk 
of erosion but is not used unless really needed. Ms. Perez explained that she did not 
see any major erosion concerns with the existing basin and would not recommend rip 
rap. Mr. Daters gave an explanation of the process used for studying the stormwater. 
 
Ms. Grybovych thanked staff for their hard work, as well as the people in attendance to 
state their concerns. She noted she was disheartened by the finger pointing and hopes 
that everyone can work together to improve the community. She also stated that she 
feels that this is a larger deviation from the master plan and may warrant further 
discussion.  
 
Ms. Moser stated that she wants to ensure the community members that they are being 
heard. She noted that she does appreciate the duplexes but has concerns regarding the 
density and would like to see some of that redeveloped in the plan. She also likes the 
recommendation of the greenspace and would like to see it be made useable to the 
community.  
 
Mr. Leeper thanked the developers for developing and stated his appreciation to the 
residents for coming to speak. His greatest issue is the density and feels that the 
changes are significant enough and should be addressed. Mr. Hartley and Chair Lynch 
agreed. 
 
Chair Lynch suggested that the developer and residents meet and have a discussion 
that could hopefully lead to finding a compromise.  
 

63

Item 15.



 
 

The item will be continued at the July 26 meeting. 
 
 
 

 
 

Discussion  
P&Z 
6/14/2023 
 
 

Acting Chair Hartley introduced the item and Mr. Atodaria provided background  
information. Ms. Alberhasky recused herself from the item as she has a conflict of 
interest. Mr. Atodaria explained that the location consists of 105 acres west of Union 
Road and south of West 1st Street. He noted that development has been ongoing since 
2001 and showed renderings of the Master Plans and preliminary plats since then. He 
then showed a color coded drawing of the subdivision today, showing the breakdown of 
the additions and the proposed revisions of the RP-Master Plan. Mr. Atodaria discussed 
the proposed number of lots and units and showed a rendering of where they are each 
proposed to be located.  
 
He explained the concerns with the project, including excessive paving along street 
frontages. This would add congestion on the streets, less on-street parking, 
compromised sidewalk continuity and front yards that will be largely paved with less 
room for landscaping and trees. To address this concern the developer is proposing that 
the driveway width for the lots will be limited to 18 feet at the front lot line. It is also 
proposed that lots with less than 60 feet will be limited to a 2-car garage. Mr. Atodaria 
noted another concern with sidewalk connections and noted that the developer will be 
adding sidewalks along the Union Road and W. 1st Street in addition to sidewalks 
bordering platted lots to comply with the City’s ordinance. The City has agreed to 
construct a small segment of missing sidewalk along Union Road between Paddington 
Drive and the southern edge of the proposed Autumn Ridge 9th Addition as a capital 
improvement project. A third concern is with community space and shared useable open 
space. Per the subdivision code and the RP Development Agreement, usable open 
space should be provided to meet the needs of the neighborhood. Staff recommends 
that some usable open space be designated within the 9th and 11th Addition as originally 
agreed. The developer is proposing 1.15 acres of open space for a park.  

 
Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II, spoke about the stormwater management plan and 
spoke to concerns by neighbors. He explained renderings of the stormwater plans and 
showed a photo of the existing stormwater detention basin. He also discussed concerns 
with the traffic impact and explained that a traffic impact study was done and it showed 
that requirements have been met. The DOT has also confirmed their acceptance of the 
connection onto HWY 57.  

 
Mr. Atodaria explained the final outstanding issues, which include a revision to the 
existing developmental procedures agreement that will be required to make it consistent 
with the revision to the RP Master Plan. The draft agreement and the deed of dedication 
will be finalized once staff has received direction and a decision by the Planning and 
Zoning Commission. The introduction of the Master Plan Amendment is for discussion 
and public comment only at this time. 

 
Mr. Atodaria moved forward with the next item for consideration with regard to these 
additions, the preliminary plat. He displayed a rendering showing street connection, 
access points and mailbox locations, as well as one showing the setbacks of the 
preliminary plat. He stated that all lots meet the minimum requirements for lot width and 
area as per the Code. He discussed drainage and utility easements, community 
space/shared usable open space, public sidewalks and the stormwater maintenance 
and repair agreement. Mr. Tolan explained the requirements with regard to stormwater 

64

Item 15.



 
 

maintenance and stated that they have been met. He also discussed the Stormwater 
Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) and the process the contractor is required to follow. 
Mr. Atodaria spoke regarding technical issues that will need to be addressed with the 
proposal. 

 
Ms. Moser asked when the traffic study was completed. Mr. Tolan explained that it was 
done in 2021. Mr. Larson asked if the proposed preliminary plat still has expected 
revisions that are to be made before approval. Ms. Howard stated that it depends on 
whether there are modifications to the master plan based on public input. Until the 
master plan and any modifications have been finalized, the plat cannot be approved.  

 
Ms. Crisman asked if the Fieldstone retention basin was put in in anticipation of this 
addition. Ms. Howard stated that there would always be an expectation that the 
community grows, every development is responsible for accepting the water from 
upstream properties and managing the stormwater for their development and 
maintaining the facilities over time.  
 
Mr. Leeper asked Mr. Tolan to speak to any other mechanisms and requirements that 
would control silt buildups. Mr. Tolan explained that there will always be natural siltation, 
so maintenance agreements should address regular maintenance and when and how it 
is removed. 
 
Ms. Moser asked how the grading for the greenspace will impact the movement of 
water. Mr. Tolan explained that there is no planned construction in the basin. Everything 
will be outside the basin and controls will be placed around the waterway and secondary 
controls around stockpiles. With final development, the agricultural field will be switched 
to more of a permanent lawn status. Seeding would take place that will lock the topsoil 
layer down to avoid erosion.  
 
Ms. Crisman asked if Maria Perez, Stormwater Specialist, could provide more 
information at the next meeting. Ms. Howard stated she would ask Ms. Perez to attend 
the next meeting. 
 
Dennis Happel, BNKD, spoke as the developer for the project. He explained that a new 
Master Plan and the preliminary plat are being submitted based on recommendations 
from City staff and comments from the Commission in the past. Every phase of the 
development have gone through City Staff, Planning and Zoning and Council. He stated 
that all requirements have been met or exceeded and that he wants to make sure that 
there are no misconceptions regarding what they are required to do.  
 
Cindy Luchtenberg, 4322 W. 1st Street, stated that there were several neighbors with 
concerns regarding the project. She clarified that they are not against the development, 
but they were under the assumption that there would be fewer lots with single-family 
homes with more greenspace until it was changed in 2013. At that time the detention 
pond was taken away, the cul-de-sacs were taken away and the kind of housing that 
was proposed. They were told that the whole development to the north would be 
consistent with the homes on the north end of the property. In 2020 it was changed to 
almost all duplexes and not what the homeowners were told. She noted concern with 
the water runoff and read a paragraph from a brochure from the Iowa Stormwater 
Organization regarding urban landscapes and runoff. She believes the study should be 
redone as there will be more housing than was originally stated. She also stated 
concerns with what she referred to as being a transient community as those forms of 
housing are not usually considered a permanent home. Another concern is with the 
housing becoming rentals.  

65

Item 15.



 
 

 
Lyle Simmons, 207 Corduroy, stated that at the time he bought the lot they invested 
their money into the neighborhood itself as that was the ideal they had been looking for. 
When duplexes started going up the neighborhood changed to something they had not 
signed up for. He also noted concerns with how the waterway will be maintained with the 
density going in as it seems to be landlocked and it would be difficult to get to it. With 
regard to the structure going under Union Road, he asked if homeowners from Autumn 
Ridge absolved from any ramifications that could come from a torrential rain coming in.  
 
Brad Pierschbacher, 4228 W. 1st Street, stated that they own the property directly north 
of this subdivision and they have concerns about the setbacks and how that will affect 
which kind of housing can be built. He also noted concerns with the sidewalks and if it 
will affect whether he will have to put sidewalk in in front of his home. He also had 
concerns with traffic once the new high school is built combined with the additional 
housing. 
 
Jim Hancock, 821 Lakeshore Drive, spoke regarding the silt removal that the lake 
association had to pay to remove, and stated concerns with future silt issues.  
 
David Davis, 4407 Berryhill Road, stated concerns with traffic and environmental issues. 
 
Ann Spurr, 4211 Berryhill Road, voiced concerns with the runoff and the use and 
location of the greenspace. 
 
Tom Litton, 918 Juanita, stated concerns with silt issues.  
 
Acting Chair Hartley brought back a question regarding whether duplexes could be built 
on additional lots. Ms. Howard explained that since this is a Master Plan community 
there cannot be a change unless the change is brought through Planning and Zoning 
and City Council. At this time they could not put duplexes on lots that have been 
designated as single-family without coming back to the Commission to ask for that 
change.  
 
Mr. Hartley reiterated the question regarding potential liability to existing homeowners 
for any damage from water flowing downstream. Mr. Tolan explained the drainage flow 
in place and how it would work. As for any liabilities, the Autumn Ridge Stormwater 
Drainage Association is responsible for the basins as outlined in their agreement, which 
has maintenance in place. The City and Association are in agreement that in the event 
there is an issue at hand, the City notifies the Association of what remedies are to be 
taken. In the event that those aren’t taken or it’s a life and death situation where the City 
has to take immediate action, the City will assess the cost back to the Association. Ms. 
Howard further explained that in general, every development is responsible for 
management of their own water. She stated that she could get a more detailed response 
for the next meeting. 
 
He then asked for staff to address whether a property owner with existing property on 
West 1st Street be required to put in sidewalk to connect to the sidewalks put in by the 
developer. Ms. Howard explained that the only way that would be required is if that 
property owner chose to develop on that property. 
 
Mr. Hartley then asked whether the retention ponds are managed by Homeowner 
Associations. Ms. Howard stated that the Homeowner’s Association would be 
responsible for collecting the right dues to maintain the facility and the pond. Mr. Leeper 
asked more about silt control policies and Mr. Tolan responded. 

66

Item 15.



 
 

 
Mr. Atodaria responded to questions from attendees that were raised regarding 
setbacks.  
 
Mr. Leeper noted confusion with the units per acre that were discussed compared to the 
plans. Mr. Happel provided an explanation. There was further discussion regarding the 
changes in numbers of units. 
 
Mr. Larson asked for more clarification on the calculations for the detention basins and 
changes in permeability. Mr. Tolan provided an explanation and information.  
 
Ms. Crisman asked about the new housing needs assessment and how it relates to this 
project. Ms. Howard stated that staff could look at the assessment and bring that 
information back at the next meeting. 
 
Mr. Leeper asked about the obligation for the developer to do what they said they would 
do in the beginning. Ms. Crisman stated that she feels that this is an example of needing 
to find a balance between providing housing and being environmentally responsible.  
 
Mr. Stalnaker asked if there has been any new guidance from Council on clearer 
developments with regard to greenspace. Ms. Howard stated that the there is a section 
of the CIP to do a new parks master plan in a couple years. One of the goals as part of 
that study, staff would like more clarity on the direction of the amount of open space 
required.   
 
Mr. Leeper stated that he doesn’t feel they can wait years to determine a number of 
acres should be set aside for parks/greenspace. He feels something should be put into 
place sooner than that. Ms. Howard agreed with the need for more clarity but explained 
that there are a lot of legal aspects to determining those kind of formulas so it will take 
time. 
 
The Master Plan Amendment and Preliminary Plat discussions will be continued at the 
next meeting. 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

67

Item 15.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Planning & Zoning Commission 

 FROM: Jaydevsinh Atodaria (JD), City Planner I 

  Matthew Tolan, Civil Engineer II 

 DATE: June 28, 2023 

 SUBJECT: The Autumn Ridge Master Plan Amendment (MP23-002) 
 

 
REQUEST: Request to approve revised Autumn Ridge Master Plan  

 
PETITIONER: BKND, Inc., Owner; CGA Engineering, Engineer 

 
LOCATION: 
 

West of Union Road and south of W. 1st Street 
 

 
See below for additional highlighted sections added to the staff report after June 14th 
2023 meeting regarding public concerns and staff recommendations. 
 
PROPOSAL 
It is proposed to amend the RP master plan for the Autumn Ridge development, which was 
originally approved in 2001.  This request is to change what was previously proposed for the 
undeveloped area in the northern portion of the Autumn Ridge development. It includes a 
mixture of detached and bi-attached single family units for a total of 90 dwelling units. If 
approved, the proposed changes will be completed in two phases. A preliminary plat application 
has been submitted concurrent with this master plan amendment request, which is addressed in 
a separate staff report.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

68

Item 15.



BACKGROUND 
The entire Autumn Ridge development is about 105 acres and was rezoned to R-P, Planned 
Residential District from A-1, Agricultural Zoning District in 2001. As part of that rezoning, an RP 
master plan (shown below) along with a developmental procedures agreement was approved 

for the entire development area. The original master plan illustrates a mix of housing types, a 
proposed layout for the streets, and a 3 to 5 acre lake that would serve as both a storm water 
retention facility for much of the 105 acre development and included shared community space 
and trails around the perimeter of the lake. These various elements were also identified in the 
developmental procedures agreement.   
 
Over the past 20 years, Autumn Ridge has been developed in many phases with increasing 
density in some areas and reductions in others, altering street connections and changing the 
types of housing as per the developer’s market strategy. There were amendments to the RP 
Plan in 2005 and 2006 to reflect changes south of the east-west drainage way (Autumn Ridge 
2nd, 3rd, and 4th Additions). In 2013, the owner submitted and received approval of a preliminary 
plat for the remaining additions in the subdivision (see attached). However, the RP Plan and 
associated developmental procedures agreement were not updated at the time to reflect those 
changes. In particular, the lake surrounded by shared amenity space and trails shown on the 
master plan and called for in the developmental procedures agreement was eliminated from the 
proposed development. Instead stormwater management is now handled in a linear east-west 
drainageway, but no additional open space or trails have been established. Over the years, 
other significant variations from the original plan include the elimination of the street connection 
across the drainageway, and changes to the housing types and locations. 
  
The developed portion of Autumn Ridge commenced with a series of retirement condos and 
patio homes along Autumn Ridge Road coupled with an expansion of single-family dwellings 
along Paddington Drive, Berry Hill Road and Shocker Road. Subsequent additions included  
 

69

Item 15.



See image below highlighting the timeline of entire Autumn Ridge Development. For more 
details, the same image is also included as an attachment to this staff report.  

For any proposed development that is not consistent with the approved RP master plan, an 
amendment is required to be approved by Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council. 
The proposed new master plan possesses significant change from the original master plan and 
development agreement in terms of density of residential units, common public space/amenities 
and street connections. Therefore, both the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council 
must first review and approve the revised RP master plan prior to the approval of the preliminary 
plat for Autumn Ridge 9th and 11th Addition in the northern part of the Autumn Ridge   
development. 
 
ZONING 
The purpose of the R-P Planned Residence District is to permit the establishment of multi-use 
and integrated use residential developments and to provide for the orderly planned growth of 
residential developments in larger tracts of land. The RP District allows flexibility in the types of 
dwellings, the lot sizes, building heights and setbacks. However, to ensure that the area is 
developed in an orderly manner, provides for efficient traffic circulation between neighborhoods, 
and includes the necessary infrastructure to meet the needs of the future residents, a master 
plan must be submitted with the rezoning, which is adopted with a developmental procedures 
agreement.  
 
STAFF ANALYSIS 
The Master Plan exhibit submitted with the current revised application highlights the two 
remaining phases (9th and 11th) in the subdivision in context with the rest of the development in 
Autumn Ridge. The updated RP master plan proposed by the developer is described below, 
with areas of change from the original plan highlighted and staff recommendations noted.  

70

Item 15.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Master Plan layout for Autumn Ridge 9th and 11th Additions: 
The last remaining area of development for Autumn Ridge is located just south of W.1st Street 
and north of the east-west drainage way that separates the subject area from the developed 
portion of Autumn Ridge. This area will be accessed from both W.1st Street and Union Road. 
Wynnewood Drive would be extended westward from Union Road and streets would be stubbed 
to the western boundary of the development to provide for future development to the west. The 
9th and 11th Additions are planned to include 46 lots for single-unit bi-attached dwellings, 44 
single-family lots and public park space. The area will be developed in two phases: Phase 1 will 
be Autumn Ridge 9th Addition, which will include 29 lots (15 single family dwellings,14 single-
family bi-attached dwellings and a little over one acre of public park space); and Phase 2 will be 
Autumn Ridge 11th Addition, which will include 61 lots (29 single family dwellings, and 32 single-
family bi-attached dwellings).  
 

Street Connectivity 
While a street connection to the south was never realized with previous subdivision plats, the 
current proposal is well thought with provision of future street connection/access points to 
surrounding undeveloped areas, including a street stub (Braeburn Drive) to provide a 
connection to the undeveloped properties just north of the subdivision, a critical connection of 
Aronia Drive to 1st Street, and two stubs going west with continuation of Wynnewood Drive and 
Channel Drive, to allow future development west of Autumn Ridge. 

  
Residential Density and Housing Types  
The proposal includes an increase in density for this particular area of the development from the 
2013 preliminary plat (see attached), as the previous plat  only included proposal for 58 single 

71

Item 15.



family units whereas, the current proposal includes 44 single family units and 46 single-unit bi-
attached dwellings. However, as shown in the submitted master plan exhibit, the overall density 
of the Autumn Ridge development is not changing as approved in 2001, since areas developed 
in the southern portion of the development are lower in density than originally proposed.  

 
 

Proposed Autumn Ridge Additions 

Phases No. of Lots No. of Single-family 
units  

No. of single-unit bi-
attached dwellings 

9th 
Addition 

29 15 14 

11th 
Addition 

61 29 32 

Total 90 44 46 

 
Project Phasing: 
The applicant proposes final platting the area in two phases: Autumn Ridge 9th Addition in 
Phase 1, which is in the eastern section of the subdivision, along union Road; and Autumn 
Ridge 11th Addition in Phase 2. This aspect will be discussed in more detail in the staff report for 
the preliminary plat.  
 
Street and Sidewalk Connections 

Over 20 years of time, there have been many changes in the subdivision. Street connectivity is 
important to provide good access to properties, distribute traffic and reduce congestion and 
emergency response times, and to provide opportunities for future development on abutting 
properties. In addition, establishing pedestrian connections throughout neighborhoods promotes 
walkability and safe passage for pedestrians.  

 
With a previous change to the RP Plan, the street connection across the drainageway was 
eliminated, which effectively separates the proposed 9th and 11th Addition, from the remainder of 
the development to the south. While this street connection has been eliminated, there is still an 
opportunity to connect the northern and southern sections of the neighborhood with a sidewalk 
along Union Road. The developer will be adding the sidewalks both along the Union Road and 
W 1st Street to comply with the subdivision ordinance. As noted at the P&Z meeting in 
November 2020, this will leave a small missing segment of the sidewalk along Union Road 
between Paddington Drive and the southern edge of the proposed Autumn Ridge9th Addition. 
After discussions with the developer, the city has agreed to construct this segment as a capital 
improvement project, and it is now listed in the recently updated Capital Improvements Program 
(CIP). Staff notes that the sidewalk along Union Road, along with a sidewalk connection to and 
through the proposed park from Union Road to Channel Drive and sidewalk fronting the 
proposed park along Channel Drive, will be required to be constructed by the developer in 
Phase 1 (9th Addition) as part of public improvements for the project. Similarly, The public 
sidewalk along W. 1st Street will be constructed in Phase 2 (11th Addition) with the public 
improvements.  
 
While there are missing sidewalk segments in a number of areas within previously platted areas 
of Autumn Ridge, the subdivision code allows sidewalks to be installed as development occurs. 
Construction is ongoing in Autumn Ridge 6th Addition, Autumn Ridge 8th Addition and Autumn 
Ridge 10th Addition. Sidewalk segments will be constructed as homes are developed and will be 
required for the remaining areas as they are platted. City Staff notes the importance of following 

72

Item 15.



through on the commitment to install sidewalks as lots are developed to ensure better livability 
of the community. As per City Code Section 20.5C(10) and section 20.5C(11), public sidewalks 
shall be installed at the time of new building construction on new or recently platted lots or within 
five years following final subdivision approval. The deed of dedication with the subdivision notes 
the same as well.  

 

Residential Density and Mix of Housing Types 

The developer is proposing to increase the number of single family bi-attached dwellings and 
reduce some of the lot sizes for the detached single family units in the proposed Autumn Ridge 
9th and 11th Addition in response to market demand. The City supports the idea of additional 
density and a variety of housing types to serve the needs of the community. The proposed 
master plan shows that the detached single family units are proposed along the perimeter of the 
development including the lots along the north side of Wynnewood Drive,  Union Road, W. 1st 
Street and along the western boundary of the development. The single family bi-attached units 
are proposed in the central and southern section of the proposed 9th and 11th Additions.  
 
Staff is supportive of the increased residential density. Providing a variety of housing types and 
sizes provide opportunities for people of varied incomes and age groups to live in the 
community. For example, first time homebuyers, empty nesters, and retirees may find attached 
dwellings to be an attractive and more affordable option to meet their needs.  
 
One issue of concern, however, is that all of the narrower bi-attached unit lots will have street-
facing garages. This will result in a considerable number of driveway curb cuts (see attached 
driveway exhibit). With this many curb cuts, there will be less room for on-street parking, 
sidewalk continuity will be interrupted and areas for front yard landscaping and street trees will 
be limited. City Staff made a number of suggestions to the developer that could help alleviate 
this concern. The developer has indicated that they would like to move forward with the proposal 
with the street-facing garages, but to address the issue is proposing to add a clause in the 
developmental procedures agreement and deed of dedication stating that all approaches and 
driveways in the development will be limited to maximum driveway width of 18 feet at the 
property line and lots narrower than 60 feet will allow a maximum two-car garage. 18 feet is the 
minimum width driveway for a two-car garage and allows for two standard width parking spaces 
behind the garage, so each unit would have at least four off-street parking spaces.   
 
Community Space/Shared usable open space: 
As per the original development procedural agreement at the time of rezoning, a reserved open 
space for community was shown to be developed to enhance the livability of the entire 
neighborhood. Staff notes that as per City Code Section 20-6 (g), “all residential subdivisions 
shall be so designed as to meet the neighborhood park and open space needs of its residents. 
Such needs may be met by dedication and acceptance of public park land/or by reservation by 
covenant of private open space.” City staff believes that having a usable park space in the 
Autumn Ridge is important to the livability of the area and aligns with both the minimum 
subdivision standards and with the principles of the R-P, Planned Residence District.  
 
While staff is not opposed to the elimination of the wet-bottomed retention stormwater basin 
(lake), elimination of the shared open space and amenities entirely is not recommended. In 
response, developer has included Outlot 1 in the proposed master plan, which is labeled as 
“Green Space or Park Space.”  The green space is proposed to be included in the first phase of 
development. This green space will need to be carefully graded and seeded to provide usable 
park space (more details about the proposed park space are included in the preliminary plat 

73

Item 15.



staff report). Staff also notes that the developer proposes a sidewalk connection to access the 
park space from the Union Road sidewalk, to provide easy accessibility to park space for all 
residents of Autumn Ridge, both north and south of the drainage way, which will need to be 
added in Phase 1 of the project. This sidewalk connection will require the developer to regrade 
the previously established Union Road drainage ditch in Right of Way. Additional grading will be 
done to tie the southerly limit of the park space into the existing stormwater detention facility.  
 
PREVIOUS DISCUSSION AT P&Z 
The applicant submitted a request to amend the master plan in 2020 and this proposal was 
reviewed at the November 24th, 2020, Planning and Zoning meeting. At the time the proposal 
was to develop the area with 95 dwelling units, including both detached and bi-attached units. At 
that meeting, staff recommended several conditions of approval including the addition of a 
sidewalk along Union Road to connect with the developed portion of Autumn Ridge, solutions to 
reduce the number and width of driveways and curb cuts and incorporating common usable 
open space/park space. The Planning and Zoning Commission expressed support for these 
conditions based on staff recommendations and input from the public. Minutes from the 
November 24, 2020 P&Z meeting are attached for your reference.  
 
In 2022 that the developer submitted a revised proposal to change the master plan, which was 
reviewed at the March 9, 2022 P&Z meeting.  To address some of the previous concerns, the 
developer reduced the number of units to 92 (58 bi-attached units, 34 single-family units) and 
included a little over one acre of public park space.  
 
At the March 2022 Planning and Zoning Commission meeting, several concerns were brought 
up by the neighbors. including: 

 Lack of maintenance of existing drainage way (south of proposed subdivision)  
 Increase in density (from originally approved 58 single-family units in the area)  
 On-street parking issues with the proposed number of driveways and curb cuts. 
 Potential for stormwater issues with an increase in density. 
 Significant changes to the original Master Plan (approved in 2001) 

The Planning and Zoning Commission discussed the proposal and indicated that some changes 
should be made to address the issues. The Commission also suggested that the developer 
reach out to the residents to provide more clarity on the proposal. Meeting minutes from the 
Planning and Zoning Commission are included at the end of the report, for your reference. After 
the meeting, the developer withdrew the application to rethink the project and work through 
some of the issues. The applicant now brings forward a revised master plan for this last area of 
development within Autumn Ridge for consideration, which is the first step necessary before 
approval of a preliminary plat for the area.  
 
JUNE 14TH P&Z MEETING: SUMMARY AND STAFF COMMENTS:  
 
At the June 14th Planning and Zoning Commission meeting, the public brought up similar 
concerns as expressed in March 2022, including: 

 Lack of maintenance of existing drainage way (south of proposed subdivision)  
 Increase in density (from originally approved 58 single-family units in the area)  
 On-street parking issues with the proposed number of driveways and curb cuts. 
 Potential for stormwater issues with an increase in density. 
 Lack of usable park space 
 Inappropriate park space location 

 

74

Item 15.



The Planning and Zoning Commission discussed the proposal and requested some additional 
information from staff regarding the following points: 

 Request for Maria Perez, Stormwater Specialist, to attend the next meeting. At the 
meeting Ms. Perez will  describe the current condition of the stormwater management 
facility in Autumn Ridge and explain the erosion control measures that are on site, 
whether erosion control measures are currently in compliance, and erosion control 
measures that will be required prior to construction/grading activity for any new 
development. 

 Information from the Cedar Falls Housing Needs Assessment (HNA): The HNA reviews 
the demographic and economic context for the local housing market and provides an 
overview of publicly available data on the City’s housing stock (age, structure type, cost, 
and vacancy rates). It also provides information on the cost, availability, and demand for 
both owner-occupied housing and rental housing of various types and projects housing 
supply and demand through 2040 to determine anticipated unmet needs. There is a lot of 
good information in this report, so is worth reviewing in its entirety. The full report is 
posted on the City’s website at: 
https://www.cedarfalls.com/DocumentCenter/View/13695/Housing-Needs-Assessment-
Final-with-Appendices-5-30-23 

 
Here are a few interesting findings from the executive summary that speak to the need 
for a variety of housing types and price levels to meet the needs of the community:  
 

o The median value of owner‐occupied homes increased 35% in Cedar 
Falls from 2010 to 2020, faster than the statewide increase of 29% (not 
adjusted for inflation). Housing costs for owners with mortgages and 
renters increased rapidly in Cedar Falls compared to Iowa – 21% vs. 12% 
for owners with mortgages, and 43% vs. 31% for renters. 
 

o Demand in Cedar Falls appears to be strongest for certain moderately 
priced homes, even though they are often smaller than more expensive 
homes. Condos below the median sale price of $206,500 sell the quickest 
at a median of 5 cumulative days on market despite having a median size 
of only 1,053 finished square feet. This suggests that Cedar Falls has 
unmet demand for relatively small, moderately priced homebuying options, 
including “affordable” or “workforce housing.” This demand may be met in 

part by building housing in configurations other than detached single‐
family homes, including condominiums, and townhomes. 

 

o The Cedar Falls home sale market appears to offer a surplus of high‐end 
homes while having a shortage of moderately priced homes for sale. 

 
o Real estate professionals and lenders consider housing to be in short 

supply at multiple price points, but especially between $150,000 to 
$250,000. They perceived unmet demand for multiple housing types, with 

particular emphasis on smaller unit types such as detached single‐family 
units for the 55+ market, condos and townhomes, accessible units for 
people with disabilities, and downtown living options. These stakeholders 
also saw a need for down payment assistance for homebuyers with limited 
incomes. 

75

Item 15.

https://www.cedarfalls.com/DocumentCenter/View/13695/Housing-Needs-Assessment-Final-with-Appendices-5-30-23
https://www.cedarfalls.com/DocumentCenter/View/13695/Housing-Needs-Assessment-Final-with-Appendices-5-30-23


o According to the low population estimates, Cedar Falls will have a shortfall 
of 569 units by 2030, increasing to 748 units by 2040. The high population 
estimates result in a shortfall of 911 units by 2030 and 1,453 units by 
2040. The average shortfall would be 740 units by 2030 and 1,101 units 
by 2040. 

o Projected new demand for owner units (not age‐restricted) is broken down 
by price range, based on the price breakdown of closed MLS listings from 
2019 through 2022. Units under $250,000 account for 59% of new units 
needed. 
 

 If existing homeowners are liable for any downstream water damage. It is recommended 
that the existing homeowners who are part of the stormwater association consult with an 
attorney for advice on these matters.  

 
Meeting minutes from the Planning and Zoning Commission are included at the end of the 
report, for your reference.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO ADDRESS PUBLIC CONCERNS 
After the meeting, hearing similar concerns for this proposal as for the proposal that was 
presented in March 2022 Planning and Zoning Meeting, staff has several recommendations that 
may help alleviate some of the concerns. Staff recommends that the developer or their engineer 
provide the following information and consider changes to the Master Plan as follows: 

1. Existing Stormwater Basin (South of proposed subdivision): 
 Developer to provide a clear picture of how the existing drainageway is currently 

functioning and how it is going to be maintained over time. For example, how it will be 
accessed and what is the anticipated maintenance schedule.  

 Developer’s engineer to provide an analysis based on the current topography to 
determine if the existing drainageway/stormwater basin is staying within the 
designated Outlot at full capacity or whether it is encroaching into the rear yards of the 
lots along the northside of Berry Hill Road. Given that these lots were established with 
very shallow or non-existent rear yards, staff recommends that the developer consider 
increasing the capacity of the basin to ensure that the risk of encroachment will be 
reduced.   

2. Park space:  
 The original Master Plan (2001) and development agreement for the Autumn Ridge 

Development had an area designated as “3-5 acre” park space and stormwater 
detention area. The existing drainageway is around 3 acres in size, so staff 
recommends increasing the park space to approximately 2 acres, which would align 
with original proposal.  

 Cedar Falls Comprehensive Plan provides information on park classifications. It 
describes mini-parks, which are less than 1 acre and notes that many cities 
discourage parks of this size due to their relatively high maintenance costs and limited 
use. The plan describes neighborhood parks as being approximately 5-10 acres in 
size and notes that the National Recreation and Park Association (NRPA) suggests 1-
2 acres of neighborhood parkland per 1,000 residents. The Autumn Ridge 
development at full build-out will be approximately 400 units and average household 
size in Cedar Falls is 2.3 persons, so a 1.5 to 2 acres are needed to serve the needs 
of this neighborhood. Staff previously discussed 2-acres of park space in the Autumn 
Ridge area with the Parks and Recreation Commission. The Commission indicated 
that approximately 2 acres would be acceptable as public park space, given there is a 

76

Item 15.



need in this area. For context, Overman Park and Seerley Park are each 1.7 acres in 
size and have space for picnic facilities, passive green space, and playgrounds. Staff 
recommends increasing the size of the park space to closer to 2 acres to serve the 
needs of the development.   

 Based on the sloping nature of the designated park space in the current plan and its 
location next to an arterial street with a 45 mph speed limit, staff recommends that the 
park location be moved to a centralized location, for better safety, accessibility, and 
usability of park space.  

3. Lot sizes and usable yard space:  
 As noted in the staff report, the single-family lots along Aronia Drive have shallower 

depths (approximately 110 feet) and a 20-foot draingage/utility easement at the rear 
of the lots. Since fences are not allowed within drainage easements, there will be only 
small area that can be fenced to provide privacy or safety for children and pets. Staff 
recommends reducing the number of single-family lots along Aronia Drive, so that 
they can be widened to provide more area for yard space or to accommodate a 
shallower depth house to ensure usable yard space. Staff recommends eliminating 4-
6 lots to achieve this goal.  
 

Notification of Surrounding Property Owners: 
City Staff sent a courtesy notice to the surrounding property owners on 5th June 2023.  
 
OUTSTANDING ISSUES  
A revision to the existing developmental procedures agreement will be required to make it 
consistent with the revision to the RP Master Plan. The agreement and the deed of dedication 
for the preliminary plat of Autumn Ridge 9th and 11th Additions must also be consistent. The 
applicant and City staff are working on the draft agreement and the deed of dedication, which 
will be finalized once direction and decision is made by the Planning and Zoning Commission.  
 
Staff is forwarding the proposal to amend the master plan for discussion, as any comments or 
recommendations for changes by the Commission may affect the provisions included in the 
developmental procedure’s agreement.  
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION REGARDING NEXT STEPS 
Staff recommends deferring the discussion to the July 26 meeting to allow the developer time to 
address the concerns as recommended in the staff report.  
 
The introduction of this master plan amendment is for discussion and public comment.  
 
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Previous 
discussion 
at P&Z 
6/14/2023 
 

Chair Acting Chair Hartley introduced the item and Mr. Atodaria provided background  
information. Ms. Alberhasky recused herself from the item as she has a conflict of 
interest. Mr. Atodaria explained that the location consists of 105 acres west of Union 
Road and south of West 1st Street. He noted that development has been ongoing since 
2001 and showed renderings of the Master Plans and preliminary plats since then. He 
then showed a color coded drawing of the subdivision today, showing the breakdown of 
the additions and the proposed revisions of the RP-Master Plan. Mr. Atodaria discussed 
the proposed number of lots and units and showed a rendering of where they are each 
proposed to be located. 
 

 

77

Item 15.



He explained the concerns with the project, including excessive paving along street 
frontages. This would add congestion on the streets, less on-street parking, 
compromised sidewalk continuity and front yards that will be largely paved with less 
room for landscaping and trees. The developer is proposing that the driveway width for 
the lots will be limited to 18 feet at the front lot line. It is also proposed that lots with less 
than 60 feet will be limited to a 2-car garage. He noted another concern with sidewalk 
connections and noted that the developer will be adding sidewalks along the Union 
Road and W. 1st Street in addition to sidewalks bordering platted lots to comply with the 
City’s ordinance. The City had agreed to construct a small segment of missing sidewalk 
along Union Road between Paddington Drive and the southern edge of the proposed 
Autumn Ridge 11th addition as a capital improvement project. A third concern is with 
community space and shared useable open space. Per the subdivision code and the RP 
Development Agreement, usable open space should be provided to meet the needs of 
the neighborhood. Staff recommends that some usable open space be designated 
within the 9th and 11th Addition as originally agreed. The developer is providing 1.15 
acres of open space for a park. 
 
Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II, spoke about the stormwater management plan and 
spoke to concerns by neighbors. He explained renderings of the stormwater plans and 
showed a photo of the existing stormwater detention basin. He also discussed concerns 
with the traffic impact and explained that a traffic impact study was done and it showed 
that requirements have been met. The DOT has also confirmed their acceptance of the 
connection onto HWY 57. 
 
Mr. Atodaria explained the final outstanding issues, which include a revision to the 
existing developmental procedures agreement that will be required to make it consistent 
with the revision to the RP Master Plan. The draft agreement and the deed of dedication 
will be finalized once staff has received direction and a decision by the Planning and 
Zoning Commission. The introduction of the Master Plan Amendment is for discussion 
and public comment only at this time. 
 
Mr. Atodaria moved forward with the next item for consideration with regard to these 
additions, the preliminary plat. He displayed a rendering showing street connection, 
access points and mailbox locations, as well as one showing the setbacks of the 
preliminary plat. He stated that all lots meet the minimum requirements for lot width and 
area as per the Code. He discussed drainage and utility easements, community 
space/shared usable open space, public sidewalks and the stormwater maintenance 
and repair agreement. Mr. Tolan explained the requirements with regard to stormwater 
maintenance and stated that they have been met. He also discussed the Stormwater 
Pollution Prevention Plan and the process the contractor is required to follow. Mr. 
Atodaria spoke regarding technical issues that will need to be addressed with the 
proposal. 
 
Ms. Moser asked when the traffic study was completed. Mr. Tolan explained that it was 
done in 2021. Mr. Larson asked if the proposed preliminary plat still has expected 
revisions that are to be made before approval. Ms. Howard stated that it depends on 
whether there are modifications to the master plan based on public input. Until the 
master plan and any modifications have been finalized, the plat cannot be approved.  

 
Ms. Crisman asked if the Fieldstone retention basin was put in in anticipation of this 
addition. Ms. Howard stated that there would always be an expectation that the 
community grows, every development is responsible for accepting the water from 
upstream properties and managing the stormwater for their development and 
maintaining the facilities over time.  

78

Item 15.



 
Mr. Leeper asked Mr. Tolan to speak to any other mechanisms and requirements that 
would control silt buildups. Mr. Tolan explained that there will always be natural siltation, 
so maintenance agreements should address regular maintenance and when and how it 
is removed. 
 
Ms. Moser asked how the grading for the greenspace will impact the movement of 
water. Mr. Tolan explained that there is no planned construction in the basin. Everything 
will be outside the basin and controls will be placed around the waterway and secondary 
controls around stockpiles. With final development, the agricultural field will be switched 
to more of a permanent lawn status. Seeding would take place that will lock the topsoil 
layer down to avoid erosion.  
 
Ms. Crisman asked if Maria Perez, Stormwater Specialist, could provide more 
information at the next meeting. Ms. Howard stated she would ask Ms. Perez to attend 
the next meeting. 
 
Dennis Happel, BNKD, spoke as the developer for the project. He explained that a new 
Master Plan and the preliminary plat are being submitted based on recommendations 
from City staff and comments from the Commission in the past. Every phase of the 
development have gone through City Staff, Planning and Zoning and Council. He stated 
that all requirements have been met or exceeded and that he wants to make sure that 
there are no misconceptions regarding what they are required to do.  
 
Cindy Luchtenberg, 4322 W. 1st Street, stated that there were several neighbors with 
concerns regarding the project. She clarified that they are not against the development, 
but they were under the assumption that there would be fewer lots with single-family 
homes with more greenspace until it was changed in 2013. At that time the detention 
pond was taken away, the cul-de-sacs were taken away and the kind of housing that 
was proposed. They were told that the whole development to the north would be 
consistent with the homes on the north end of the property. In 2020 it was changed to 
almost all duplexes and not what the homeowners were told. She noted concern with 
the water runoff and read a paragraph from a brochure from the Iowa Stormwater 
Organization regarding urban landscapes and runoff. She believes the study should be 
redone as there will be more housing than was originally stated. She also stated 
concerns with what she referred to as being a transient community as those forms of 
housing are not usually considered a permanent home. Another concern is with the 
housing becoming rentals.  
 
Lyle Simmons, 207 Corduroy, stated that at the time he bought the lot they invested 
their money into the neighborhood itself as that was the ideal they had been looking for. 
When duplexes started going up the neighborhood changed to something they had not 
signed up for. He also noted concerns with how the waterway will be maintained with the 
density going in as it seems to be landlocked and it would be difficult to get to it. With 
regard to the structure going under Union Road, he asked if homeowners from Autumn 
Ridge absolved from any ramifications that could come from a torrential rain coming in.  
 
Brad Pierschbacher, 4228 W. 1st Street, stated that they own the property directly north 
of this subdivision and they have concerns about the setbacks and how that will affect 
which kind of housing can be built. He also noted concerns with the sidewalks and if it 
will affect whether he will have to put sidewalk in in front of his home. He also had 
concerns with traffic once the new high school is built combined with the additional 
housing. 
 

79

Item 15.



Jim Hancock, 821 Lakeshore Drive, spoke regarding the silt removal that the lake 
association had to pay to remove, and stated concerns with future silt issues.  
 
David Davis, 4407 Berryhill Road, stated concerns with traffic and environmental issues. 
 
Ann Spurr, 4211 Berryhill Road, voiced concerns with the runoff and the use and 
location of the greenspace. 
 
Tom Litton, 918 Juanita, stated concerns with silt issues.  
 
Acting Chair Hartley brought back a question regarding whether duplexes could be built 
on additional lots. Ms. Howard explained that since this is a Master Plan community 
there cannot be a change unless the change is brought through Planning and Zoning 
and City Council. At this time they could not put duplexes on lots that have been 
designated as single-family without coming back to the Commission to ask for that 
change.  
 
Mr. Hartley reiterated the question regarding potential liability to existing homeowners 
for any damage from water flowing downstream. Mr. Tolan explained the drainage flow 
in place and how it would work. As for any liabilities, the Autumn Ridge Stormwater 
Drainage Association is responsible for the basins as outlined in their agreement, which 
has maintenance in place. The City and Association are in agreement that in the event 
there is an issue at hand, the City notifies the Association of what remedies are to be 
taken. In the event that those aren’t taken or it’s a life and death situation where the City 
has to take immediate action, the City will assess the cost back to the Association. Ms. 
Howard further explained that in general, every development is responsible for 
management of their own water. She stated that she could get a more detailed response 
for the next meeting. 
 
He then asked for staff to address whether a property owner with existing property on 
West 1st Street be required to put in sidewalk to connect to the sidewalks put in by the 
developer. Ms. Howard explained that the only way that would be required is if that 
property owner chose to develop on that property. 
 
Mr. Hartley then asked whether the retention ponds are managed by Homeowner 
Associations. Ms. Howard stated that the Homeowner’s Association would be 
responsible for collecting the right dues to maintain the facility and the pond. Mr. Leeper 
asked more about silt control policies and Mr. Tolan responded. 
 
Mr. Atodaria responded to questions from attendees that were raised regarding 
setbacks.  
 
Mr. Leeper noted confusion with the units per acre that were discussed compared to the 
plans. Mr. Happel provided an explanation. There was further discussion regarding the 
changes in numbers of units. 
 
Mr. Larson asked for more clarification on the calculations for the detention basins and 
changes in permeability. Mr. Tolan provided an explanation and information.  
 
Ms. Crisman asked about the new housing needs assessment and how it relates to this 
project. Ms. Howard stated that staff could look at the assessment and bring that 
information back at the next meeting. 
 
Mr. Leeper asked about the obligation for the developer to do what they said they would 

80

Item 15.



do in the beginning. Ms. Crisman stated that she feels that this is an example of needing 
to find a balance between providing housing and being environmentally responsible.  
 
Mr. Stalnaker asked if there has been any new guidance from Council on clearer 
developments with regard to greenspace. Ms. Howard stated that the there is a section 
of the CIP to do a new parks master plan in a couple years. One of the goals as part of 
that study, staff would like more clarity on the direction of the amount of open space 
required.   
 
Mr. Leeper stated that he doesn’t feel they can wait years to determine a number of 
acres should be set aside for parks/greenspace. He feels something should be put into 
place sooner than that. Ms. Howard agreed with the need for more clarity but explained 
that there are a lot of legal aspects to determining those kind of formulas so it will take 
time. 
 
The Master Plan Amendment and Preliminary Plat discussions will be continued at the 
next meeting.  
 

Previous 
discussion 
at P&Z 
3/9/2022 
 
 

Chair Leeper introduced the item and Mr. Atodaria provided background information. He  
explained that the item was discussed previously on November 24, 2020 and provided  
information about the previous proposal at that time. He discussed the history of the  
Autumn Ridge development and provided background on the area for the newer  
members on the Commission. He provided an aerial view of the entire Autumn Ridge 
development as currently developed and discussed the various phases that have been 
completed over the years. He displayed the proposed revised master plan explaining 
that it includes 92 units (34 single-family and 58 bi-attached units), and gave a summary 
of the number of lots and units as compared to the previously approved preliminary plat. 
He noted staff is supportive of the variety of housing types and additional density to 
meet market demand. Mr. Atodaria displayed photos of what the bi-attached units would 
look like. He discussed concerns with excessive paving along street frontages due to 
multiple double-wide driveways for the bi-attached units, which results in less room for 
on-street parking, compromised sidewalks, largely paved front yards and little room for 
landscaped front yards or street trees. In response to this concern, the developer 
proposes that all lots equal to or less than 60 feet in width be limited to a maximum of an 
18 ft. driveway at the front lot line to reduce the paving areas on property.  
 
Mr. Atodaria also mentioned that the developer will be adding sidewalks along Union 
Road and W. 1st Street in addition to sidewalks bordering platted lots to comply with the 
City’s ordinance. The City has agreed to construct a small segment of missing sidewalk 
along Union Road between Paddington Drive and the southern edge of proposed 
Autumn Ridge 11th Addition as a capital improvement project. City staff recommends 
that some usable open space be designated within the 9th and 11th Additions as 
originally agreed. The developer is proposing 1.15 acres of open space at the southeast 
of the proposed development. The land slopes toward the drainageway in this area, so 
will need to be graded and seeded carefully to provide usable park space. Staff outlined 
that they are working with applicant to make necessary revisions in the developmental 
procedures agreement, to be consistent with the proposed RP Master Plan. The 
applicant has submitted a rough draft of the agreement and deed of dedication for the 
preliminary plat and they are under review by City staff and the City Attorney. At this 
time, the matter is for discussion only and will be continued to the next meeting. 
 
Adam Daters, CGA Engineers, engineer for the project, came forward to say he is 
available for any questions. 
 

 

81

Item 15.



David Davis, 4407 Berry hill Road, stated concerns with the water drainage behind his 
house. He stated that the drainage area has not been maintained and that several times 
in the last two years the water has been running with the creek bed itself. He stated that 
he has concerns that the developer will not do the maintenance they have agreed to do. 
 
Lyle Simmons, 207 Corduroy Drive, echoed Mr. Davis’s concerns with the drainage. He 
also noted issues with on-street parking and the ability to drive down the street around 
parked cars. He explained concerns with the traffic on 1st Street and increased density.  
 
Brad Pierschbacher, 4228 W. 1st Street, stated that his property backs up to the north 
property line on the proposed new Addition and he explained concerns with what is 
happening with density and storm water management. 
 
Cynthia Luchenberg, 4322 W. 1st Street, stated concerns with increased traffic. She also 
discussed the original plan with regard to the number of lots and houses proposed and 
noted concerns about changes made to the original plan, so that now there are nearly 
double the number of units on the northern portion than what was originally proposed, 
which makes her neighborhood more dense than anticipated and more homes backing 
up to her lot. She spoke about the smaller lot sizes along the west boundary of her lot 
and how small and shallow they are and suggested that the lots be re-sized back to the 
four wider lots allowing more space for homes accounting for the shallow lot depth and a 
less congested area surrounding her property. She also noted the loss of a detention 
pond with trails that was originally proposed and the loss of greenspace from creating 
smaller lots.  
 
Willis Roberts, 4018 Wynnewood, stated concerns with stormwater drainage and asked 
how surface water is going to leave the area. His interpretation of the packet suggested 
that the surface water through swales was to be delivered to the retention area on the 
west boundary. He doesn’t understand how water is going to go down into a drainage 
area and back up to a retention pond. 
 
Mr. Holst asked if the homeowners association maintains the drainageway in question. 
Mr. Tolan explained that with Autumn Ridge 5th Addition a maintenance and repair 
agreement that is required with all detention facilities throughout the City, was signed. It 
states that all benefited properties have the responsibility to maintain the drainage 
facility, including the area to the north proposed for development. The Autumn Ridge 
Stormwater Maintenance group was set up by the developer to maintain these facilities. 
Mr. Tolan noted that he had conversations with the president of the Homeowner’s 
Association, who stated that the Stormwater Association exists in name only and that 
there has never been a meeting or vote with anyone in that association. No stormwater 
maintenance has been done. 
 
Ms. Saul noted concerns with the density and the parking issue on that street and issues 
with visibility due to all the vehicles. Ms. Howard confirmed that front-facing garages on 
narrow lots result in more paved areas along the street. There are various possible 
solutions, as noted in the previous staff report in 2020, including shared driveways or 
rear access to garages from an alley. The developer has proposed limiting driveway 
widths to 18 feet. The question for the Commission is whether the overall change to the 
master plan and whether the solutions proposed by the developer to address concerns 
are reasonable or if modifications should be made. 
 
Ms. Grybovych asked about the reasoning for increasing the density and removing the 
pond that was originally proposed. Adam Daters, CGA, explained that the market 
demand was what drove that decision.  

82

Item 15.



 
Ms. Moser stated concern with the traffic flow, particularly along Union Road and 1st 
Street. She asked if there has been any traffic study or any type of estimation of the 
impact. Mr. Tolan explained that traffic analysis was addressed with the developer’s 
engineer. He noted that 1st Street is a state highway so must also be approved by the 
Iowa DOT. One concern was spacing from the adjacent intersection with Union and 
Highway 57. There have been talks with the developer’s engineer and the DOT that the 
proposed location of the driveway was considered an acceptable according to the DOT 
and their guidance would be followed for the connection to their roadway. Ms. Howard 
noted that one positive aspect is that there are multiple connections that will help 
distribute traffic as opposed to the originally proposed cul-de-sacs.  
 
Mr. Daters stated that they are willing to work with the neighbors on issues that have 
been brought forward. 
  
Mr. Holst felt that there is a pretty big change in density from the original master plan, 
and while density is good, he does understand how that could create concerns with the 
water issues. He questioned how it’s going to get better when there are already issues.  
 
Ms. Saul asked if the stormwater infrastructure being put in place will help with the 
surface water runoff. Mr. Tolan explained that regional detention was established with 
the 5th Addition for the entire area, including the 9th and 11th Additions. There was a 
culvert structure under Union Road that conveys water from upstream to downstream. 
At the time the regional facility was set up, a modification was done to the culvert to 
bring it up to current stormwater code. There is a 100-year detention that releases at a 
two year rate that is metered out. The concerns with the increase in density were 
addressed with the developers engineer and they verified that the detention capacities 
from the 2012 model do meet the original design intent. 
 
Mr. Leeper stated concern that master plans are meant to let people know generally 
what’s happening and decisions are being made based on the plan. It seems that these 
are pretty significant changes to the plan. Ms. Lynch agreed and stated while she 
understands that the demand is there, she hopes the developer will have conversations 
with surrounding neighbors to provide clarity to come to an agreement. 
 
The item will be continued to the next meeting. 
 

Previous 
discussion  
at P&Z 
11/24/2020 
 

Chair Holst noted that he would need to recuse himself from the item and passed  
the item to Vice Chair Leeper. Vice Chair Leeper introduced the item and noted that  
the agenda items are all for public input and will not be voted on at this time. Mr.  
Atodaria provided background information explaining that the entire development is  
approximately 105 acres and has developed over a 20 year timeframe. An RP  
Master Plan was amended in 2001 and the entire area was rezoned from Agriculture  
to RP and there were five different areas created in the area. Mr. Atodaria showed a  
rendering of the development and explained the different kinds of development were  
planned for each area. There were other amendments made in 2005 and 2006 to  
reflect changes in the 2nd, 3rd and 4th Additions. In 2013 the developer submitted a  
preliminary plat for the 5th, 6th, 7th, 8th and 9th Additions that included a proposed 31  
lots in the 8th Addition and 27 in the 9th, but the master plan was not updated at that  
time. He showed a rendering of the subdivision today and the breakdown of the 10  
additions. He described the units that are proposed to be added to the 9th and 10th  
additions.  
 

 

83

Item 15.



Mr. Atodaria discussed the amendments to the 9th Addition, noting staff concerns 
with excessive paving along street frontages that would add congestion to the 
streets, diminish on-street parking, create less sidewalk continuity and reduce room 
for landscaped front yards or street trees. Staff has provided suggestions that could 
alleviate the excessive curb cuts, such as bi-attached units or townhomes with alley 
loaded garages or common driveway for attached units and limited the size to two 
car garages. Staff also has noted concerns with sidewalk connections along Union 
Road and community space/shared usable open space. Mr. Atodaria discussed 
suggestions provided by staff for these issues.  
 
Mr. Atodaria then discussed the proposed amendment to the 10th Addition and the 
number of units to be added in the area. He explained that staff has reviewed the 
master plan and recommends some changes to the Master Plan prior to approval. 
These include: 
 

 Providing a usable open space to enhance the livability of community 
in the 9th Addition, as was anticipated in the original master plan.   

 Reduction of the number and size of proposed curb cuts for the 
proposed attached units in the 9th Addition. 

 Provision of a public sidewalk along Union Road from the 9th Addition 
to Paddington Drive to comply with the subdivision code and deed of 
dedication requirements. 

 
At this time, staff asked for comments and suggestions from the public and the 
Commission. 
 
Dennis Happel spoke about the lake detention that was taken out of the  
development early on as they felt that the uncontrolled runoff to the west on the farm  
ground would soon cause it to fall into disarray due to the siltation. During the review  
of Autumn Ridge 6th and 7th in 2016, it was taken out by City staff due to the large  
stormwater issue that needed to be addressed. The large stormwater detention that  
was put into those additions was to help curb the runoff issues being discussed.  
With regard to the sidewalk, it has gone through the approval of two plats for that  
area and at that time staff felt it did not need to be installed because of the large bike  
trail across the street. He stated that they are not opposed to putting the sidewalk in  
from across the 9th Addition for a connection, but feels the City should be  
responsible for the rest. He discussed the parking issue that has been a concern  
and stated that there are other areas in town where similar concepts are used and  
there is not a problem with the on-street parking. They are trying to provide an  
affordable product for housing in the area and feel that adding an addition alley  
would create extra expense to the homeowners and costs for upkeep. They feel that  
housing mixture they have presented complements the area and is a good plan. 
 
Jesse Meehan, 4305 Berry Hill, lives near the drainage ditch between the properties 
and stated that their houses were built with low water entry points and with FEMA 
remapping the area, residents are not able to refinance without getting flood 
insurance. He believes that increasing the number of houses will create more runoff 
and problems. He asked if the duplex lots could potentially be single-family if that’s 
what the owner prefers and if the houses were going to be “cookie cutter” and look 
the same. He would like to see some uniqueness in the area. He feels that if green 
space is proposed, it shouldn’t be like the current green space. He also asked if the 
City is going to maintain a park if one is planned.  

84

Item 15.



 
Doug Stanford, President of the Fieldstone Homeowners Association speaking for 
the Board of Directors, explained that a letter was presented to Stephanie Sheetz 
expressing their concerns with the project. He noted that they are concerned with 
the increased housing density in Autumn Ridge 9th and the traffic issues on Union 
Road. They feel that the increased density will intensify the traffic congestion and 
feels that it may be time to consider some upgrades to Union Road. The Board is 
also concerned with potential stormwater runoff issues with the addition of new 
construction that could potentially damage a pond in the development.  
 
Robert Zoulek, Autumn Ridge resident, asked how the developer will ensure that the 
elevations with the additional runoff will not worsen the current issues.  
 
Lyle Simmons, asked what impact studies have been done and how can they find 
the information regarding the potential effects of this project.  
 
Dennis Happel reiterated the planned housing units and explained that the 
stormwater issue was addressed in 2016 with the large detention area. It has been 
reviewed and the impact of these additional additions was addressed back in the 
planning of previous additions. He also stated that they will not be the only builder in 
the development so there should not be an issue with “cookie cutter” design. As for 
the traffic issues, the developer has provided all the access the city has asked for 
and explained that Union Road issues would be more of a city matter. He also noted 
that the damage to the pond was not a result of Autumn Ridge. 
 
Adam Daters, CGA Engineers, added that the traffic engineer for the project did 
simulations that showed that there was very little impact from the traffic increase.  
 
Cindy Luchtenberg, resident in the Autumn Ridge area, questioned the approval 
process of which builder can build in the addition. She stated concerns with the 
effect this project could have on their ability to hook up to city water and sewer and 
the costs involved.  
 
Mr. Meehan feels that the detention pond will not help with the issues that could 
arise. 
 
Willis Roberts noted that he feels there will be additional traffic flow problems based 
on the layout proposed. 
 
Mr. Happel explained that the developer or the building committee approve the 
configuration and design of the homes to keep the character of the neighborhood 
intact. He discussed the planned housing in the garden home area and explained 
that those are not geared to be rentals. He stated that the runoff has been 
addressed and numerous studies have been done and that it will not be an issue. 
He also addressed the comment regarding sewer hookup and explained that they 
have no control over how it fits someone’s property.  
 
Amber Hines feels that the proposed housing does not match the character of the 
current neighborhoods. 
 
Mr. Happel stated that they have mixed in multi-unit housing well in other areas of 
the neighborhoods and doesn’t feel it will be an issue. 

85

Item 15.



 
Mr. Schrad asked about the lot sizes proposed for duplexes. Ms. Howard explained 
that the lot line shown is for one side of the duplex as they are considered to be a 
“bi- attached” single-family dwellings, with each side on its own lot. Mr. Schrad also 
feels that there needs to be a park and asked if the City would take care of it. 
Planning staff spoke with the Parks Department and they would be amenable to 
looking at a proposal for a public park in that area.  
 
Mr. Larson asked if there were any metrics used to decide that this one parcel 
needed to have a park or what motivated the decision. He was under the impression 
that this area was going to be more senior driven and wondered how that would 
serve that community. Ms. Howard explained that the park would service the whole 
Autumn Ridge neighborhood as opposed to just one addition. A park would also fill 
the need for open space requirements. Mr. Larson asked about the proposal 
process for a park. Ms. Howard explained that the developer would need to submit a 
plan and the Parks Department would review the proposal. 
 
Vice Chair Leeper asked about stormwater setup for the area. Mr. Tolan explained 
that with this subdivision and subsequent subdivisions, regional detention was set 
up utilizing an existing culvert under Union Road and a secondary detention basin 
series. All detention for the entire area was already included in the 2012 study and 
has already been installed.  
 
Ms. Saul stated she is concerned with all the paving and driveways with regard to 
walkability and safety and asked if there is a way to mitigate that. Mr. Larson asked 
about the maximum allowable width when curb cuts are directly abutting. Mr. Tolan 
provided information in response.  
 
Vice Chair Leeper stated that he felt the developer should work with the City to 
address the concerns that have been expressed and then come back to the 
Commission after that.  
 
Mr. Larson asked about the continuation of the sidewalk from the previous phases. 
He would like to know if there is a legal obligation to put the paths in. Ms. Howard 
stated that there is a requirement in the subdivision code that allows sidewalks to be 
put in post-development and requires it to be completed within five years of the 
completion of the plat. Mr. Larson asked a few more questions. 
 
Vice Chair Leeper stated that he would like to hear more from the Commission to 
give some direction to the developer on whether they agree with the comments and 
recommendations from staff. Mr. Schrad stated that he agrees with the 
recommendations from staff but does recommend that the developer listen to the 
comments from neighbors. Mr. Larson felt the park and the sidewalk situations are 
important for further consideration. Ms. Saul and Ms. Lynch agreed. 
 
The item was continued to the next meeting. 
 
 

 

86

Item 15.



87

Item 15.



W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D)

W(D) W(D)

St
S(

D)

St
S(

D)

SD

SD
SD

SD
SD

SD
SD

SD SD SD SD SD

SD

SD

SD SD SD SD

SD

SD
SD

SD

SDSDSD
SD

SD

SD
SD

SD
SDSD

SD
SD SD SD

SD

SD
SD

SDSDSDSDSDSDSDSD

W
(D

)
W

(D
)

W
(D

)

E E
E

E
E

E
E

E E E

E
E

E
E

G G
G

G
G

G
G

G G G
G

G
G

G

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

G
G

G
G

G
G

G
G

G

E E E E E E E E E E E E

G G G G G G G G G G G G

SD

SDW W W W W W W W W W W W

San(D)

W W
W

W
W

W
W W W W

W
W

W

428.11'

(4
3.

13
')

AUTUMN RIDGE ELEVENTH ADDITION

PHASE
LINE

AUTUMN RIDGE NINTH ADDITION

280.32' (282.97')
S89°26'25"E (S89°49'33"W)

39
2.

08
' (

39
1.

95
')

S
0°

14
'4

4"
E

 (
N

01
°0

4'
57

"W
)

987.24' (987.24')
S89°19'46"E (S89°49'11"W)

12
5.

76
' (

12
5.

76
')

S
9°

17
'0

3"
E

 (
N

10
°0

7'
36

"W
)

28
0.

60
' (

27
9.

96
')

S
0°

11
'3

0"
E

 (
N

01
°0

3'
21

"W
)

26
1.

94
'

S
7°

00
'3

7"
W

 (
N

06
°0

9'
47

"E
)

102.55' (102.54')

S74°41'46"W

(N73°50'56"E)

282.86' (282.83')N84°33'07"W (S85'23'57"E)

90.01' (90.00')
N89°19'55"W
(N89°49'15"E)341.43' (341.40')

S82°00'02"W (N81°09'12"E)

456.35' (456.35')

S83°31'04"W (N82°40'14"E)

11
69

.2
6'

N
0°

11
'0

8"
E

 (
N

0°
40

'1
2"

w
)

425.29'
S88°48'20"E

33
.4

9'
S

0°
11

'0
8"

W
57

.2
0'

N
0°

11
'0

8"
E

18
6.

80
'

N
0°

56
'5

7"
E

484.54'
S89°18'30"E

111.07'
S

0°15'44"E
76.76'

S
9°27'20"E

486.49'
S89°19'46"E

500.75'
N89°19'46"W

Clapsaddle-Garber Associates, Inc
5106 Nordic Drive

Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613

Ph 319-266-0258
www.cgaconsultants.com

SHEET NO.

DRAWN:
CHECKED:

DATE:
DATE:

APPROVED: DATE:

PROJECT NO.DESIGNED: DATE:REVISIONNO. DATEBY DATEBYREVISIONNO.

J:
\5

78
6\

dw
gs

\E
xh

ib
its

\5
78

6 
- M

as
te

r P
la

n 
20

23
-0

4-
06

.d
wg

 - 
1 

OF
 1

 M
as

te
r P

la
n 

-  
11

-0
6-

23
 - 

2:
40

pm
 - 

lk
oo

sm
an

n

CGA AUTUMN RIDGE NINTH AND ELEVENTH ADDITIONS
1 OF 1

5786

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA MASTER PLAN

RP MASTER PLAN AMENDMENT FOR
AUTUMN RIDGE DEVELOPMENT

 CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

N

0

GRAPHIC SCALE

200'100' 300'

PHASE LOTS TRACT

1 30 "A"

2 56 "A"

TOTAL 86

ONE UNIT BI-ATTACHED LOT = 42 TOTAL

SINGLE FAMILY/ONE UNIT LOT = 44 TOTAL

NOTES:

1. ALL BUILDING TYPES TO BE SINGLE FAMILY OR ONE
UNIT BI-ATTACHED PER USE TYPE DESIGNATION
SHOWN

2. RESIDENTIAL DENSITY = 3.38 DU/AC
3. ONE UNIT BI-ATTACHED DWELLING FOOTPRINTS ARE

FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY AND ARE
SUBJECT TO CHANGE.

4. TOPOGRAPHIC FEATURES, DRAINAGE WAYS, STORM
WATER FACILITES AND UTILITY LOCATIONS ARE
SHOWN ON THE PRELIMINARY PLAT ACCOMPANYING
THIS MASTER PLAN AMENDMENT SUBMITTAL.

PARK SPACE (2.08 AC.)

TRACT A - STREET RIGHT OF WAY
OUTLOT 1 - PARK SPACE

NOTE:  ALL TRACTS AND OUTLOTS SHALL BE DEDICATED TO THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

TRACTS & OUTLOTS

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

PARCEL "C" LOCATED IN THE E1
2 OF THE NORTHEAST 14 OF SECTION 9, TOWNSHIP 89 NORTH, RANGE 14 WEST OF THE

5TH P.M., CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, BLACK HAWK COUNTY, EXCEPT THAT PART OF AUTUMN RIDGE FIFTH ADDITION
RECORDED ON INSTRUMENT #2014-00015466
AND
THAT PART OF PARCEL "B" LOCATED IN THE NORTHEAST 14 OF  SECTION 9, TOWNSHIP 89 NORTH, RANGE 14 WEST OF
THE 5TH P.M., CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, BLACK HAWK COUNTY, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:
BEGINNING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF AUTUMN RIDGE 5TH ADDITION; THENCE NORTH  0°11'08" EAST, 57.20
FEET ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID PARCEL "B" TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF; THENCE SOUTH
88°48'20"E, 425.29 FEET ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID PARCEL "B" TO A POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF TRACT A,
AUTUMN RIDGE FIFTH ADDITION; THENCE SOUTH 83°31'04" WEST, 428.11 FEET ALONG SAID NORTH LINE OF TRACT A
TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, CONTAINING 0.30 ACRES MORE OR LESS.

THIS PARCEL CONTAINS 23.38 ACRES MORE OR LESS.

AND

PROPERTY LOCATED IN THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 9, TOWNSHIP 89 NORTH, RANGE 14
WEST OF THE 5TH P.M., CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, BLACK HAWK COUNTY, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS
FOLLOWS:
COMMENCING AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF AUTUMN RIDGE FIFTH ADDITION, SAID POINT ALSO BEING ON THE
WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF NORTH UNION ROAD; THENCE, N7°00'37"E 261.94' ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY
LINE; THENCE, N0°11'30"W 280.60' ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE; THENCE, N9°17'03"W 125.76' ALONG SAID
WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE, N89°19'46"W 500.75'; THENCE, N0°56'57"E 186.80';
THENCE, S89°18'30"E 484.54' TO A POINT ON SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE; THENCE, S0°15'44"E 111.07' ALONG SAID
WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE; THENCE, S9°27'20"E 76.76' ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE TO THE POINT OF
BEGINNING
THIS PARCEL CONTAINS 2.10 ACRES MORE OR LESS

PHASING SUMMARY

USE TYPE

300' BOUNDARY OFFSET

88

Item 15.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: ANN L AND BRADLEY R PIERSCHBACHER UNPLATTED  ZONED A-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
WYNNEWOOD DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
W. 1ST ST./HWY 57

AutoCAD SHX Text
N. UNION RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: MARK J AND CYNTHIA S LUCHTENBURG UNPLATTED  ZONED A-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: ANN L AND BRADLEY R PIERSCHBACHER UNPLATTED  ZONED A-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: WATERLOO MSA LIMITED PARTNERSHIP UNPLATTED  ZONED A-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: LINDA S OSBORN UNPLATTED W  NE   12 NE   14ZONED A-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: AUTUMN RIDGE STORM WATER DRAINAGE ASSOCIATION  TRACT A AUTUMN RIDGE FIFTH ADDITION  ZONED RP

AutoCAD SHX Text
E1/2 NE1/4 SEC. 9-89-14

AutoCAD SHX Text
AUTUMN RIDGE 5TH ADDITION  ZONED RP

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 23

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 22

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 21

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 20

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 19

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 18

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 17

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 16

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 15

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 14

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 13

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 12

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 11

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIELDSTONE 3RD ADDITION  ZONED R-1SU

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 10

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 11

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 30

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 31

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: SAMUEL R RUNYAN  UNPLATTED ZONED C-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT C

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 9

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIELDSTONE 1ST ADDITION  ZONED R-1SU

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: B.N.K.D., INC. PT. OF PARCEL "B"  ZONED RP

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH LINE PARCEL "B" DOC. NO. 2005-20714

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: B.N.K.D., INC. PARCEL "C"  ZONED RP

AutoCAD SHX Text
BERRY HILL RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 24

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 25

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 10

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 12

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 29

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 32

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 33

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: TOHMAS M AND MARY R FOGARTY UNPLATTED  ZONED A-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: MELINDA A HANLON UNPLATTED  ZONED A-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: CLARK S MEIKLE UNPLATTED  ZONED A-1



89

Item 15.



90

Item 15.



91

Item 15.



92

Item 15.



93

Item 15.



94

Item 15.



95

Item 15.



96

Item 15.



G:\Cedar Falls\Autumn Ridge 5th Addtion\Hydrology\Final Storm Report Revisions\Report Revisions\Intro-Desc AR 5th.docx Page 1 of 7 

SHOFF CONSULTING ENGINEERS, LC 
 

� Civil � Environmental � Wastewater � Municipal � Water � 

� Industrial � Structural � Construction Management � Transportation � 

� Electrical � Land Surveying � Land Development � Insurance Claim Investigation � 

Randy Lorenzen, P.E., City Engineer 4/19/2013 

Michelle Sweeney, P.E., Civil Engineer II 

City of Cedar Falls 

220 Clay Street 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 

Subject: Autumn Ridge 5
th

 Addition 

 Storm Sewer and Detention Analysis and Calculations Submittal 

Dear Randy & Michelle: 

Attached are the analysis and calculation results for Autumn Ridge 5
th

 Addition Storm Sewer and 

Detention.  

Existing Conditions 
The existing development previously constructed along Paddington Drive as a part of Autumn 

Ridge 3
rd

 Addition, forms a barrier or “dam” that prevents upstream drainage from both onsite 

and offsite sources from effectively passing though the developed area. This creates unacceptable 

rear yard ponding and basement flooding along the south side of the development in Outlot ‘A’. 

An existing conditions drainage model was created to analyze the ponding and provide data to 

assist in designing drainage improvements to resolve the current issue. The results of the model 

can be seen on ST-01 – Existing Conditions Ponding Exhibit in Section 2. The following criteria 

were used in developing the existing conditions model: 

1) 26 acres drain to the west Outlot ‘A’ ponding area from the west adjacent property. 

2) 17 acres drain to the west Outlot ‘A’ ponding area from the future Autumn Ridge 

development site to the south. 

3) 18 acres drain to the east Outlot ‘A’ ponding area from the future Autumn Ridge 

development site and Autumn Ridge 4
th

 Addition to the south. 

With the current drainage areas and storm sewer design, water will pond in the rear yards of 

Autumn Ridge 3
rd

 Addition. 

1) The existing house on Lot 15, Autumn Ridge 3
rd

 Addition will experience flooding in a 5-

yr storm or greater. 

2) The existing house on Lot 16, Autumn Ridge3
rd

 Addition will experience flooding in a 50-

yr storm or greater. 

With the current grading there is no overflow path that allows the water to pass through the 

development without flooding the existing lots and houses. The water that flows into the rear 

yards of Autumn Ridge 3
rd

 Addition from the west adjacent property and the Autumn Ridge site 

to the south will flow through Lots 13 &14 into Paddington Drive and also through Outlot A and 

Lot 3, continuing into Paddington Drive and down Berry Hill Road. 

The following section explains several options that were considered to reroute the flow. The 

current plan is to install an upstream detention basin to capture the 500-yr storm from the west 

offsite drainage area and from approximately 15 acres of onsite drainage. This 500-year detention 

basin will be released through the existing 30-in storm sewer on Corduroy Dr.  

 
5106 Nordic Drive 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613-6967 

Phone:  (319) 266-0258 
Fax:  (319) 266-1515 

 

 

97

Item 15.



 

G:\Cedar Falls\Autumn Ridge 5th Addtion\Hydrology\Final Storm Report Revisions\Report Revisions\Intro-Desc AR 5th.docx Page 2 of 7 

Design Alternatives 
Several options were explored to remediate the current flooding problem for the existing Autumn 

Ridge development. 

1) Re-Grading of Corduroy Drive – We explored the option of re-grading Corduroy Drive to 

allow the water from the south to pass through the existing Autumn Ridge 3
rd

 Addition. This 

would entail removing existing pavement on Corduroy Drive and on Paddington Drive. The 

intersection would need to be lowered to create a high point on Paddington just east of 

Corduroy to keep the water in Corduroy. This would allow the water to get to the proposed 

detention basin. This option was very costly and created several issues with the driveway 

grading at the existing houses. Several of the driveways would either be too steep, or drain 

towards the house. 

2) Future Shocker Road Grading – Shocker Road was analyzed as a channel to convey the water 

to the east and then north along the existing storm sewer easements. This would have allowed 

the water to pass through the Autumn Ridge 3
rd

 Addition site, mainly overland, and enter the 

proposed detention basin through an over flow on Berry Hill Road. This option was not 

conducive to resale values of the lots that were planned for Shocker Road. The proposed 

grading plan would not allow for walk-out basement homes to be built on majority of the 

road. 

3) Overflow through Outlot A – Outlot A, Autumn Ridge 3
rd

 Addition was re-graded to allow for 

higher volumes of water to be passed through and into Berry Hill Road to the north detention 

basin. This involved creating a larger ponding area to improve flows into the existing storm 

sewer and allow the overflow to be controlled. The overflow into the sump on Paddington 

Drive was eliminated. The flow through Outlot A was 75cfs in the 100-yr storm and 125cfs in 

500-yr storm. These flows were considered to be too high to be adjacent to the rear yards of 

homes. 

4) Dual Pipe along Corduroy Drive – Several alternatives, pipe and intake configurations were 

evaluated in adding a secondary pipe along Corduroy Drive. A total of 6-8 intakes at a sump 

location along with a new 48-in pipe would need to be added to capture and route the water 

from the offsite area and the future development to the south through Autumn Ridge 3
rd

 

Addition at a 100-yr flow rate. This option was considered to be too costly due to the impact 

on existing homes, the use of large diameter pipes and the number of intakes required to 

capture the flow. 

5) Overflow through Outlot A with West Boundary Berm– The grading and overflow routing 

remained very similar to the previous option. In this option a berm and 42-in pipe were added 

along the west boundary of Autumn Ridge extending from Thresher Court to the detention 

basin north of the proposed Berry Hill Road extension. The berm and pipe were designed to 

capture and convey the water generated from the adjacent property on the west directly to the 

detention basin. Also in this option a temporary earthen berm and intake on the future 

extension of Corduroy Drive were added to utilize the existing 30-in pipe along Corduroy. 

With these additions the flow through Outlot A was reduced to 0 cfs and 20 cfs for the 100-yr 

and 500-yr storm respectively. However this option also impacted the existing homes along 

Corduroy Drive, and would have required easements from the adjacent property owner. The 

adjacent property owners communicated to B.K.N.D. Inc. that they will not cooperate in any 

way with options that would require giving up any farmland. 

6) Recommendation Alternate – 500-year Upstream Detention - This area is located along the 

west property line and south of Shocker Road. This pond is designed to contain the 500 year 

storm for 26.1 acres of offsite flow and 14.7 acres on future Autumn Ridge drainage. The 

outlet for this area will be through a 30-in storm sewer pipe on Corduroy Drive. The following 

sections explain in detail the current drainage alternate.  
98

Item 15.



 

G:\Cedar Falls\Autumn Ridge 5th Addtion\Hydrology\Final Storm Report Revisions\Report Revisions\Intro-Desc AR 5th.docx Page 3 of 7 

500-year Upstream Detention Basin Calculations 
A drainage model was produced to design and analyze the proposed improvements. This model 

contains all of the existing, proposed and future pipes, structures and detention/ponding areas that 

are anticipated or currently planned in future phases of the Autumn Ridge Development. 

100-yr & 500-yr Storm Water Routing Design 

Attached for your review are the 100-yr & 500-yr storm sewer routing models in sections 9 and 

10, respectively. These models include all the existing and proposed storm sewer pipe along with 

the drainage channels and ponding areas accounted for. The first page of these sections highlights 

the major ponding areas of concern along with the Low Water Entry (LWE) points for the lowest 

existing house in that area. 

1) West Outlot ‘A’ Ponding Area, Autumn Ridge 3
rd

 Addition – This area is in Outlot ‘A’ of 

Autumn Ridge 3
rd

 Addition, it includes the western portion of Outlot ‘A’ and the existing 

adjacent lots from 3
rd

 Addition. 

2) East Outlot ‘A’ Ponding Area, Autumn Ridge 3
rd

 Addition – This area is in Outlot ‘A’ of 

Autumn Ridge 3
rd

 Addition, it includes the eastern portion of Outlot ‘A’ and the existing 

adjacent lots from 3
rd

 Addition. 

3) Rear Yard Infield Area, Autumn Ridge 5
th

 Addition – This area is located in the rear yards 

of lots 2-10 in the proposed Autumn Ridge 5
th

 Addition along the north line of 3
rd

 

Addition. 

4) Upstream West Primary Detention Pond – This area is located along the west property 

line, south of Shocker Road.  

The ponding areas for these areas can be seen on ST-02 Storm Sewer and Detention Calculation 

Submittal Exhibit.  

One major difference in the 100-yr and 500-yr storm routing models is the procedure for 

modeling an intake at a sag location or other overflow points. The default input for an intake will 

model the ponding depth based on street longitudinal and cross slope. This is only accurate until 

the ponding reaches the centerline of the street and would overflow into the adjacent intake. In 

these models there are five components to modeling intakes in a sag location: 

1. Assigned Storage Area – This allows the storage volume to be calculated up to the 

overflow elevations and more accurately evaluate the head conditions on the intake 

(orifice flow). These are developed from existing and proposed contours. 

2. Intake Orifice – A horizontal, rectangular orifice is used to model the intake throat and the 

intake capacities. 

3. Junction Structure – This represents the intake box for connecting the storm sewer pipes. 

4. Centerline Overflow Weir – A trapezoidal weir is used to model the centerline overflow 

from adjacent intakes. This allows for equalizing elevations from the intake pair in their 

storage areas. 

5. Sag Intake Overflow Link – A channel is defined in the shape of a typical road section to 

model the overflow from a sag intake. If there is a 1-ft sump that would fill in a higher 

frequency storm the additional flow would be conveyed and captured at a separate point in 

the model. 

Proposed Offsite Drainage Improvements 

The proposed drainage concept for Autumn Ridge is to construct an upstream detention basin 

along the west property line where the offsite flow enters the project site. The detention basin is 

sized to detain the 500-yr storm for 26.1 acres of offsite drainage and 14.7 acres of future Autumn 

Ridge project area. The outlet rate of the proposed upstream detention basin would be 31 cfs in 

99

Item 15.



 

G:\Cedar Falls\Autumn Ridge 5th Addtion\Hydrology\Final Storm Report Revisions\Report Revisions\Intro-Desc AR 5th.docx Page 4 of 7 

the 100-yr storm and 34 cfs in the 500-yr storm. All water detained in the basin will outlet 

through a 30-in storm sewer pipe in Corduroy Drive.  

This detention basin will provide the required detention per the City of Cedar Falls ordinances for 

both the onsite and offsite area.  

By detaining the water at an upstream point the amount of water that drains through Outlot ‘A’, 

Autumn Ridge 3
rd

 Addition is reduced to a rate that is handled by the existing storm sewer 

system. Only minor improvements will be required in Outlot ‘A’ including: 

1. Grading a small ponding area on the East side of Outlot ‘A’ to maximize the capacity of 

the existing storm sewer system and minimize the overflow into Autumn Ridge 3
rd

 

Addition. 

2. Grade a 6-ft swale from the West to the East ponding area to control any overflow. 

3. Grade a 10-ft swale from the East ponding area into Paddington Drive to control overflow. 

4. Remove and replace the existing 24-in storm sewer between Lots 3 & 4, Autumn Ridge 

3
rd

 Addition, with a 30-in pipe to allow for construction of the East ponding area. 

With the current storm water model there is no overflow in any of the 2 swales in the 100-yr 

storm. All water is routed either into the proposed upstream detention basin or through the 

storm sewer piping. 

The proposed ponding areas in Outlot ‘A’ are graded to correct the current flooding issues on Lot 

15 & 16 in Autumn Ridge 3
rd

 Addition. A minimum of 1-ft of freeboard is provided for the 

500-yr storm routing on all existing and proposed lots. 

These drainage improvements would involve the rearranging of the existing preliminary platted 

street and lots; these are shown on the attached Exhibit, ST-02.  

1. Autumn Ridge Road would be extended from Thresher Court to Shocker Road. 

2. Corduroy Drive from Thresher Road to Shocker Road would be removed. 

3. Thresher Court from Autumn Ridge Road to the west property line will be removed. 

Drainage Areas 

Attached is Exhibit ST-02 for the proposed storm routing alternate discussed above. The attached 

exhibit outlines proposed drainage areas, flows, ponding area, ponding depth and rainfall values 

in various storm events. 

The 30 acre drainage area and the 10.2 acre drainage area are set to drain to the proposed 

upstream detention basin. The street drainage from Shocker Road in major storm events will 

overflow into the proposed detention basin and outlet through the 30-in storm sewer on Corduroy 

Drive. 

The drainage area to the west Outlot ‘A’ basin has been reduced from 43 Acres to 3 acres. This 

allows the flow to be metered through the existing 18-in pipe without causing any flooding. 

The 8.5 acre drainage area draining to the east Outlot ‘A’ basin remains the same as the current 

construction plans. The existing 24-in storm sewer pipe between Lot 3 & 4, Autumn Ridge 3
rd

 

Addition will be removed and replaced with a 30-in. The intake will be removed and lowered to 

allow for the grading of a ponding area. These improvements will allow for the flow be captured 

in the storm sewer, minimizing overflow to Paddington Drive.  

100

Item 15.



 

G:\Cedar Falls\Autumn Ridge 5th Addtion\Hydrology\Final Storm Report Revisions\Report Revisions\Intro-Desc AR 5th.docx Page 5 of 7 

Storm Sewer Calculations 
Several storm sewer models were produced to model the current, existing conditions and the 

conditions after the Autumn Ridge 5
th

 Addition improvements. The results of these analyses can 

be seen in sections 8-12 of this report. All storm sewer analysis was performed in Autodesk Storm 

and Sanitary Analysis software. 

Storm Sewer Analysis Naming Convention 

Below is a reference for the naming convention used in the analysis. 

Pipe name – EX.P3-10 

‘EX’ – Existing Pipe 

‘P3’ – Pipe (conveyance link) installed in 3
rd

 Addition. 

‘10’ – Plan pipe number, in this case from the as-built plans for 3
rd

 Addition 

Pipe name – BL-F.P-21 

‘BL’ – Bypass Link, used to convey overflow from a storage node or bypass flow an intake 

‘F’ –Future Pipe 

‘P’ – Pipe (conveyance link) 

‘21’ – Pipe number 

5-yr Storm Sewer Design 

All proposed pipes are designed to convey the 5-yr storm flow for their respective drainage areas. 

The analysis printout for the 5-yr storm sewer design can be seen in section 7.  The analysis 

utilizes the SCS TR-55 hydrology and time of concentration methods. This was done to correlate 

the detention ponding elevations to the outlet pipe. This was used to calculate the starting 

hydraulic grade line at the outlets. 

Pipe Results (page 26) 

As can be seen on the pipe results page of the analysis, all of the proposed pipes have a flow less 

than the design flow of the pipes.  

1) In the Peak Flow Depth/Total Depth Ratio column the maximum for the proposed pipes 

was 69% for pipe P-01. 

2) The maximum Peak Flow/Design Flow Ratio is 54% for P-01A 

Inlet Results (page 29) 

1) Proposed intakes are sized accordingly to handle the flows from their respective drainage 

areas. 

2) Maximum gutter spread on page 29shows 4.9’ at 3-in depth for intake I-01 

a. With the proposed gutter spread on Berry Hill Road there would still be a 20-ft 

driving area free of ponding water in the 5-year storm. 

Design profiles with the hydraulic grade lines (shown in red) are attached in section 8 for your 

review. 

Proposed Rear Yard (5
th

 Addition) Drainage Improvements 

The rear yard area in Autumn Ridge 5
th

 Addition was designed to outlet a 500-yr storm with 

minimal ponding. The outlet pipe, P-07 is a 24-in at 1.53% and a design capacity of 28cfs. The 

peak flow for the 500-yr storm in the rear yard area is 20cfs. As was used in Wild Horse 2
nd

 

Addition, multiple redundant inlets are utilized in the event any localized plugging would occur. 

With three of the four inlets plugged, the ponding level would be approximately a foot above the 

structure.  

101

Item 15.



 

G:\Cedar Falls\Autumn Ridge 5th Addtion\Hydrology\Final Storm Report Revisions\Report Revisions\Intro-Desc AR 5th.docx Page 6 of 7 

North Detention Basin Calculations 
The proposed North Detention Basin will be located in the existing FEMA floodplain just north of 

the proposed Autumn Ridge 5
th

 Addition development. The detention basin has been designed to 

detain the 100-yr developed storm with a release rate for the 2-yr undeveloped storm rate for the 

Autumn Ridge future and current additions. This detention basin is sized to handle all of the 

Autumn Ridge Development. The required water quality improvements are included within this 

basin for Autumn Ridge 5
th

 Addition and future phases. 

Drainage Areas: 

1) Offsite Drainage - There are approximately 81.7 acres adjacent to the Autumn Ridge site 

that drains into the project. Since that acreage will be required to address storm water 

detention at the time it is developed, all of it is considered as undeveloped for the purposes 

of this analysis and is passed through without being detained. 

2) Onsite Drainage - There are approximately 78.8 acres within the Autumn Ridge project. 

All but approximately 3.8 acres drain directly to the detention basin area. This 3.8 acre 

area drains to Highway 57 which outflows onto the property to the north of Hwy 57.  

Additionally, there are approximately 3.7 acres along the Union Road right-of-way that 

drain directly into the basin area. In this case, since the areas are approximately equal, 78+ 

acres are treated as all Autumn Ridge property for calculating pre-developed and 

developed runoff calculations in detention basin design.  

The area proposed to be utilized as a detention basin is identified as a FEMA floodplain. Our 

design effort will be to provide appropriate storm water detention within the horizontal limits of 

that floodplain, and to limit the 100-year high water levels (HWL) in the detention basin to no 

higher than the Base Flood Elevations (BFE’s) of the floodplain. The requirement for 100-yr 

“No Rise” hydraulics is obtained with this design. 

Enclosed in sections 4-7 are the detention basin calculation for the 2-yr pre-developed condition, 

100-yr & 500-yr developed condition and the water quality calculations. The detention analysis 

was performed using HydroCAD design software. The design ponding elevations can be seen on 

exhibit ST-02 Storm Sewer and Detention Calculation Submittal Exhibit. 

Results 

1) The runoff resulting from the 2-year storm for the predevelopment condition of the 78.8 

acre Autumn Ridge site is 91.9 cfs.  

2) The runoff resulting from the 100-year storm from the developed Autumn Ridge site and 

the pre-development offsite area is 314.0 cfs.   

3) The outlet structure for the detention basin should restrict the 100-year storm flow from 

the entire drainage area such that the maximum outflow rate is reduced by 314.0 – 91.9 = 

222.1 cfs.  

The detention basin will be excavated to increase the storage volume to the maximum extent 

practical while maintaining the resulting HWL within the horizontal limits of the FEMA 

floodplain, as shown on the enclosed FEMA Firmette in Section 3. The design will limit the 100-

year HWL to not exceed the BFE upstream of Union Road.  

102

Item 15.



 

G:\Cedar Falls\Autumn Ridge 5th Addtion\Hydrology\Final Storm Report Revisions\Report Revisions\Intro-Desc AR 5th.docx Page 7 of 7 

With these parameters in mind, the design of the detention basin will result in the following 

HWLs and flow rates for the various conditions: 

1. 2-Year Rainfall Runoff from Pre-Developed Site– Runoff flowrate of 91.9 cfs. See section 

3 for detailed analysis. 

2. 100-Year Rainfall Runoff from Developed Autumn Ridge Site – Runoff generated is 

314.0 cfs. This flow will be reduced to an outflow rate of 91.9 cfs, for a reduction of 222.1 

cfs. 

3. 100-Year Runoff from Total Drainage Area to Basin – Runoff generated is 606.0 cfs. 

Detention structure design will reduce outflow by 222.1 cfs to 383.9 cfs. The resulting 

HWL will be 946.42’. The BFE at the existing Union Road embankment is approximately 

947’.  

4. 500-Year Runoff from Total Drainage Area to Basin – Runoff is 832.1 cfs, reduced to 

612.5 cfs by the detention basin and outlet structure at a HWL of 947.67’. 

5. 1 ¼ inch WQ Volume Rainfall from Autumn Ridge Site - Total runoff to detain and 

discharge slowly in accordance with the Cedar Falls Ordinances requires 14,420 cubic feet 

of storage. The outlet structure has been designed with a raised orifice at 940.4’. This will 

contain the proper volume of runoff. 

6. The low point of the existing Union Road pavement is approximately 954.4’. The existing 

FEMA floodplain was developed using the old Union Road grade which was 

approximately 8 feet lower, and which utilized a smaller culvert.  

7. The grading of the development will be such that the buildable areas of the lots will be 

above the 500-year flood level. The final plats for the various sections of the development 

will indicate minimum low water entry point elevations for each lot.   

To the best of our knowledge, this design meets the requirements of the City of Cedar Falls and of 

FEMA. It provides appropriate detention without raising HWLs above the FEMA requirement. 

The remainder of the improvements will remain the same as the current preliminary construction 

plans submitted to the City of Cedar Falls. 

I would like to thank you in advance for your time in reviewing our proposed improvements to 

the Autumn Ridge Sub-Division. 

If you have any questions please feel free to call us. 

Sincerely, 

Shoff Consulting Engineers 

 

 

 

Jerry L. Shoff, P.E., L.S. 

jshoff@shoffengineering.com 

Office: (319) 266-0258 

Fax: (319-266-1515 

Cc: Dennis Happel, BKND, Inc. 

 File: 417-07 

103

Item 15.



104

Item 15.



105

Item 15.



106

Item 15.



107

Item 15.



108

Item 15.



109

Item 15.



110

Item 15.



111

Item 15.



112

Item 15.



113

Item 15.



114

Item 15.



115

Item 15.



116

Item 15.



117

Item 15.



118

Item 15.



119

Item 15.



120

Item 15.



121

Item 15.



122

Item 15.



123

Item 15.



124

Item 15.



125

Item 15.



126

Item 15.



127

Item 15.



128

Item 15.



129

Item 15.



130

Item 15.



131

Item 15.



132

Item 15.



133

Item 15.



134

Item 15.



135

Item 15.



136

Item 15.



137

Item 15.



138

Item 15.



139

Item 15.



140

Item 15.



141

Item 15.



142

Item 15.



143

Item 15.



144

Item 15.



145

Item 15.



146

Item 15.



147

Item 15.



148

Item 15.



149

Item 15.



150

Item 15.



151

Item 15.



152

Item 15.



153

Item 15.



154

Item 15.



155

Item 15.



156

Item 15.



157

Item 15.



158

Item 15.



159

Item 15.



160

Item 15.



161

Item 15.



162

Item 15.



163

Item 15.



164

Item 15.



165

Item 15.



166

Item 15.



167

Item 15.



168

Item 15.



169

Item 15.



170

Item 15.



171

Item 15.



172

Item 15.



173

Item 15.



174

Item 15.



175

Item 15.



176

Item 15.



177

Item 15.



178

Item 15.



179

Item 15.



180

Item 15.



181

Item 15.



182

Item 15.



183

Item 15.



184

Item 15.



185

Item 15.



186

Item 15.



187

Item 15.



188

Item 15.



189

Item 15.



190

Item 15.



191

Item 15.



192

Item 15.



193

Item 15.



194

Item 15.



195

Item 15.



196

Item 15.



197

Item 15.



198

Item 15.



199

Item 15.



200

Item 15.



201

Item 15.



202

Item 15.



203

Item 15.



204

Item 15.



205

Item 15.



206

Item 15.



207

Item 15.



208

Item 15.



209

Item 15.



210

Item 15.



211

Item 15.



212

Item 15.



213

Item 15.



214

Item 15.



215

Item 15.



216

Item 15.



217

Item 15.



218

Item 15.



219

Item 15.



220

Item 15.



221

Item 15.



222

Item 15.



223

Item 15.



224

Item 15.



225

Item 15.



226

Item 15.



227

Item 15.



228

Item 15.



229

Item 15.



230

Item 15.



231

Item 15.



232

Item 15.



233

Item 15.



234

Item 15.



235

Item 15.



236

Item 15.



237

Item 15.



238

Item 15.



239

Item 15.



240

Item 15.



241

Item 15.



242

Item 15.



243

Item 15.



244

Item 15.



245

Item 15.



246

Item 15.



247

Item 15.



248

Item 15.



249

Item 15.



250

Item 15.



251

Item 15.



252

Item 15.



253

Item 15.



254

Item 15.



255

Item 15.



256

Item 15.



257

Item 15.



258

Item 15.



259

Item 15.



260

Item 15.



261

Item 15.



262

Item 15.



263

Item 15.



264

Item 15.



265

Item 15.



266

Item 15.



267

Item 15.



268

Item 15.



269

Item 15.



270

Item 15.



271

Item 15.



272

Item 15.



273

Item 15.



274

Item 15.



275

Item 15.



276

Item 15.



277

Item 15.



278

Item 15.



279

Item 15.



280

Item 15.



281

Item 15.



282

Item 15.



283

Item 15.



284

Item 15.



285

Item 15.



286

Item 15.



287

Item 15.



288

Item 15.



289

Item 15.



290

Item 15.



291

Item 15.



292

Item 15.



293

Item 15.



294

Item 15.



295

Item 15.



296

Item 15.



297

Item 15.



298

Item 15.



299

Item 15.



300

Item 15.



301

Item 15.



302

Item 15.



303

Item 15.



304

Item 15.



305

Item 15.



306

Item 15.



307

Item 15.



308

Item 15.



309

Item 15.



310

Item 15.



311

Item 15.



312

Item 15.



313

Item 15.



314

Item 16.



315

Item 16.



316

Item 16.



317

Item 16.



318

Item 16.



319

Item 16.



320

Item 16.



321

Item 16.



 
 
 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

PUBLIC SAFETY – FIRE RESCUE DIVISION 

4600 South Main Street 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 

Phone: 319-273-8690 

Fax: 319-268-5196 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

MEMORANDUM  

To:  Honorable Mayor Green and Cedar Falls City Council 

CC:  Matt Krueger, Lieutenant Fire Inspections 

From:  John Zolondek, Fire Chief 

Date:   November 10, 2023 

Re:  Fire Code Change 

 

 
In the past year Lt Krueger and I have been working through incidences regarding the installation of post 

indicator valves, (PIV), at various building projects in the community. The PIV is part of a fire sprinkler 

system intended to shut off the fire sprinkler system. The post is a part of the valve assembly that has a 

clearly visible sign inside indicating whether the valve is OPEN or CLOSED.  

 

Following research with several outside agencies including the State Fire Marshal Office and National 

Fire Protection Codes and Standards I would like to propose the following change to the current City 

Code Section 9-87.   

 

This change is intended to decrease the encumbrance on property owners, construction companies and 

sprinkler installers when installing a fire sprinkler shutoff valve.  We have had many instances where a 

request was made for a variance due to the impossibility of installing the sprinkler shut off valve 100 feet 

from the building due to lot size and/or configuration of the building and parking areas.  This change in 

City Code of Ordinances would allow for better compliance with City Code and fall in line with 

nationally recognized codes and standards such as NFPA 13 Standard for the Installation of Sprinkler 

Systems.   

 

I respectfully request that Cedar Falls City Council approve this change.  

 

322

Item 17.



 

ORDINANCE NO. ___________ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 9-87, CONNECTION TO WATER MAIN, IN 

ARTICLE IV, AUTOMATIC SPRINKLER SYSTEMS, OF CHAPTER 9, FIRE 

PREVENTION AND PROTECTION, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, TO MODIFY THE DISTANCE FROM BUILDINGS 

THAT AUTOMATIC FIRE SPRINKLER SYSTEM SHUT OFF VALVES MAY BE 

LOCATED, AND PROVIDING FOR EXCEPTIONS ALONG WITH MINOR NON-

SUBSTANTIVE CHANGES. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

                 Section 9-87. Connection to Water Mains, in Article IV, Automatic Sprinkler Systems, 

of Chapter 9, Fire Prevention and Protection, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 9-87, Connection to Water 

Mains, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 9-87. - Connection to water main. 

(a)  Any person desiring to open a connection with a water main which is used for city fire 
protection, for the purpose of supplying automatic fire sprinkler equipment, shall have such 
connection made under the direction and subject to the approval of the chief of the fire 
divisiondepartment. 

(b)  Supply connection for sprinkler system shall be adequate for the building size and 
contents. 

(c)  All connections for supplying automatic fire sprinkler equipment shall be equipped with a 
shutoff valve which shall be located in a place of easy access. and at a distance of not less 
than 100 feet from the building so equipped.  Listed indicating valves at each connection into a 
building shall be at least 40 feet from the building.  Exceptions to the 40-feet requirement may 
be granted if inadequate space exists or other conditions make it impractical to comply as 
determined by the fire chief. 

(d)  The keys to the shutoff valve of each connection for the purpose of supplying automatic fire 
sprinkler equipment shall be stored in the Knox Box for the property and accessible to the chief 
of the fire operations division, who shall have authority to close such valves whenever the 
chiefhe deems it necessary. 

(e)  Any person who shall violate any of the provisions of this article by not complying with the 
provisions of this section in making connection for automatic fire sprinkler equipment, or who 
permits any person to make such connection for him without complying with this section, shall 
be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor, and be punished, on conviction thereof, pursuant 
to section 1-8. Such fines are enforceable by civil action. 

(Code 2017, § 11-79; Ord. No. 2137, § 1, 4-22-1996; Ord. No. 2537, § 6, 8-8-2005) 

 

323

Item 17.

https://library.municode.com/ia/cedar_falls/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COOR_CH1GEPR_S1-8GEPEPESCVI


INTRODUCED: _______________________________________________ 

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATIONI: _________________________________ 

ADOPTED: ___________________________________________________ 

                                                                                               

                                                                               ___________________________ 

                                                                                         Robert M. Green, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

________________________________ 

Jacqueline DanielsenKim Kerr, MCMC, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

324

Item 17.



325

Item 18.

WagnerS
Typewritten Text
DAILY INVOICES FOR 11/20/23 COUNCIL MEETING



326

Item 18.



327

Item 18.



328

Item 18.



329

Item 18.



330

Item 18.



331

Item 18.



332

Item 18.



333

Item 18.



334

Item 18.



335

Item 18.



336

Item 18.



337

Item 18.



338

Item 18.



339

Item 18.



340

Item 18.



341

Item 18.



342

Item 18.



343

Item 18.



344

Item 18.



345

Item 18.



346

Item 18.



347

Item 18.



348

Item 18.

WagnerS
Typewritten Text
COUNCIL INVOICES FOR 11/20/23 MEETING



349

Item 18.



350

Item 18.



351

Item 18.



352

Item 18.



353

Item 18.



354

Item 18.



355

Item 18.



356

Item 18.



357

Item 18.



358

Item 18.



359

Item 18.



360

Item 18.



361

Item 18.



362

Item 18.



363

Item 18.



364

Item 18.



365

Item 18.



366

Item 18.



367

Item 18.



368

Item 18.



369

Item 18.



370

Item 18.



371

Item 18.



372

Item 18.



373

Item 18.



374

Item 18.



375

Item 18.



376

Item 18.



377

Item 18.



378

Item 18.



379

Item 18.



380

Item 18.



381

Item 18.



382

Item 18.



383

Item 18.



384

Item 18.



385

Item 18.



386

Item 18.



387

Item 18.



388

Item 18.



389

Item 18.



390

Item 18.



391

Item 18.



392

Item 18.



393

Item 18.



394

Item 18.



395

Item 18.



396

Item 18.



397

Item 18.


	Top
	Item 1.	Minutes 11-06-23
	231106MINUTES

	Item 2.	Repass, Mayor's Veto-Imagine College Hill Vision Plan
	2023-10-26_VetoOfVisionPlanRepeal

	Item 3.	3045-Remove on-street parking as shared parking CD-DT
	1-Memo CC-Removing on-street parking as shared parking.CD-DT.TA23-004
	2-3045-Removing on-street parking as shared parking.CD-DT.TA23-004

	Item 4.	Standing Committee Meeting Minutes 11/06/2023
	11.06.2023 Standing Committee Minutes

	Item 5.	Boards Resignation-Amy Lang
	2206_001

	Item 6.	Civil Service Commission Certified Lists
	Equip Mech-CertList11-2023
	PublicSafetyOfficer-CertList11-2023
	WWTPOprI-CertList11-23

	Item 7.	College Hill Partnership FY24 Biannual Report
	1_Memo to Council for CHP 1st Half Payment 11-20-23
	2_CHP Biannual Report November 2023

	Item 8.	Tobacco Violation-Buzz Smoke & Vapor
	1. Order Accepting Agreement
	2. Acknowledgement-Settlement Agreement - Signed

	Item 9.	Tobacco Permits 11/20/2023
	11202023 Tobacco Application

	Item 10.	Retail alcohol 11-20-23
	Retail alcohol 11-20-23

	Item 12.	UNI Student Liaison
	Memo to Mayor, Council UNI Student Liaison Resolution Amendment
	Resolution amending UNI Student Liaison resolution

	Item 13.	Mutual Non-Disclosure Agreement with RxBenefits, Inc.
	1. RxBenefits Council Memo 11-9-23
	2. Mutual_NDA_between_RxBenefits_Inc_and_City

	Item 14.	28E Agreement with Iowa ABD
	3689_001

	Item 15.	Master Plan Amendment for Autumn Ridge
	1- CC memo for Autumn Ridge Master Plan Amendment 11-20-23
	2. PZ Staff Report for Autumn Ridge Masterplan Amendment - June 28, 2023
	3. ZoningLocationMap
	4. 5786 Master Plan 11.6.23 - Exhibit C
	5. Signed development agreement
	5a. RP Master Plan 2001 - Exhibit A
	5b. Attachment to Res and Dev Agreement 2006 - Exhibit B
	5c._Prior Storm Water Report - Autumn Ridge 5th (Storm Sewer and Detention) -Exhibit D
	6. All correspondence as of 11-10-23

	Item 16.	Compost Facility Contract Services
	Contract package CY 2024

	Item 17.	Ord.-Fire Prevention & Protection
	Chief Memo to City Attorney regarding PIV location
	Ordinance Fire Code Amendment

	Item 18.	Bills and Claims 11/20/23
	1 Daily Invoices 112023
	2 Council Invoices 112023

	Bottom

